

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia



Written by Angella Duvnjak, Ele Morrison, Annie Madden and Anna Olsen

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

The Australian Injecting and illicit Drug Users League (AIVL) is the national peak organisation for state and territory peer-based drug user organisations and represents issues of national significance for people who use or have used illicit drugs. Its mission is 'to promote and protect the health and human rights of people who use or have used illicit drugs'.

© Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL) 2015

This work is copyright. Apart from any use as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, no part may be reproduced without prior written permission from the Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL).

Duvnjak, A., Morrison, E., Madden, A & Olsen, A. 2015. No one likes using the dirties: A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia. Canberra: Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League

ISBN 978-0-9870936-6-0

Contents

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia	1
Acknowledgments	4
List Of Abbreviations And Glossary Of Terms	5
Executive Summary	6
Introduction and Background	8
Approach to the study	10
Research Questions and Methodology	10
Ethics	12
Recruitment	13
Limitations and Obstacles	13
An Overview of the Literature	14
Risk Knowledge	16
Perceptions of Risk	16
Risk Management	17
Younger Age Groups	18
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander People	18
Social proximity, intimacy, sex and networks	19
Gender	20
Social Context and Structural Barriers	21
Policy Barriers	21
International and National Evidence On Criminal Legislative Barriers	22
Summary	23
Results and Discussion	25
Access To Injecting Equipment	25
Access To Needle and Syringe Programs	26
Opening Hours and Location of NSP	26
Limitations on Amount or Type of Equipment	28
Type of Service Provided	29
Access to Injecting Equipment Through Pharmacies	31
Fear of Punishment or Repercussions	33
Stigma and Discrimination Where Why and With When Thurs Hears Sefety Strategies	36
Where, Why and With Whom Drug Users Safety Strategies	38
Conclusion And Recommendations	47
Innovative and Better Quality Service Models	48
Understanding Criminalisation and Reducing Stigma and Discrimination Further Research and Education	51
Final Remarks	52 55
References	56
Appendix	64

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the generous contribution of all of the focus group participants from around Australia who shared their expertise, knowledge and often deeply personal experiences with us. Without the input of our drug using peers this study would have been impossible.

We would like to thank the drug user organisations who assisted with recruitment. This includes the Canberra Alliance for Harm Minimisation and Advocacy (CAHMA), the New South Wales Users and AIDS Association (NUAA) and the West Australian Substance Users Association (WASUA). We would also like to thank Anglicare Tasmania and Emily for their support with the Tasmanian focus group.

We were fortunate to have the input and guidance of the expert advisory committee, Dr Anna Olsen, Professor Lisa Maher, Dr Peter Higgs, Ms Niki Parry, Ms Marion Watson, Mr Paul Dessauer, Dr Jenny Iversen, Dr Phyll Dance, Mr Chris Gough and Ms Jenny Kelsall. Dr Anna Olsen provided significant input into the overview of literature contained in this report and we are grateful for her expertise and willingness to step in and assist AIVL at a crucial point in the production of the report.

Laura Santana was involved in the initial stages of the project and her contribution is also acknowledged.

Finally we would like to dedicate this report to people who inject drugs in the hope that our health and human rights are enhanced through the information shared in this report.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

List Of Abbreviations And Glossary Of Terms

AIDS - Acquired immune deficiency syndrome

ATS – Amphetamine type stimulants

BBV - Blood borne virus

Bupe - Buprenorphine

Butterfly – Winged infusion set consisting of a plastic tube with a plastic 'butterfly' to give it stability and a needle tip attached to the end. Used mainly to inject larger amounts of liquid. In Australia they usually come with 25gauge or 23 gauge needle tips.

Dirties – Used injecting equipment, particularly needles and syringes.

'Done - Methadone

DUO - Drug user organisation

EAC – Expert Advisory Committee

Fit - Needle and syringe

Fitpack - Pack containing injecting equipment, usually a small number of 1ml syringes, alcohol swabs, cotton and sometimes sterile water.

HCV - Hepatitis C virus

HIV - Human immunodeficiency virus

ICE - Methamphetamine

IDU - Injecting drug user

Injecting equipment – Refers to any equipment used to inject drugs including but not limited to needles and syringes, alcohol swabs, cotton filters, water for mixing, different sized barrels, different sized needle tips, winged infusions sets, and wheel filters.

Larger barrels – Syringe barrels of 10ml size or larger.

NSP - Needle and Syringe Program

OST – Opioid substitution treatment

Peer – Somebody who is considered to share enough in common with members of a community to be identified as part of that community, in the context of this report, somebody with a history of drug use or a person who uses drugs.

PUD – Person/people who use drugs

PIED - Performance and image enhancing drugs

PWID - Person/People who inject drugs

STI - Sexually transmissible infection

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Executive Summary

This report contains the findings of a peer-based qualitative research study into the re-use¹ of injecting equipment in Australia. It was undertaken by the Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL) who conducted the research between 2013 and 2015. AIVL was assisted in this study through the generous support and guidance of an expert advisory committee (EAC), all of whom have expertise in the area of hepatitis C and injecting drug use, and many of whom are key researchers within this field (refer to Acknowledgments for full details of membership of this committee).

The impetus for this research came from a growing frustration felt by drug user organisations (DUO) and others in relation to the consistently high rates of re-use of injecting equipment being reported in Australia over recent years (Iversen, Chow and Maher, 2014). This is despite relatively high levels of access to new injecting equipment (in comparison to many other countries). Re-using injecting equipment is a concern as it can increase the risk of transmitting and acquiring blood-borne viruses (BBV) such as hepatitis C and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). It can also contribute to bacterial infections and poor vein health for people who inject drugs (PWID).

The best available data on the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia comes from the annual Needle and Syringe Program (NSP) survey.² This survey reports on the numbers of PWID amongst its sample who self-report re-use of injecting equipment in the month prior to the survey. It does not ask respondents about the reasons for re-use or identify specific risks that may have been associated with this re-use. The two key sources of data on injecting practices in Australia, the Australian Illicit Drug Reporting System (known as the IDRS survey) and the NSP survey elicit information from respondents on the nature of the relationship between those who are sharing equipment (such as close friend, partner). What this data does not do is delve into the questions that PWID may seek answers to in assessing their relative risk in relation to any sharing episode that takes place with close friends, partners etc. or any steps taken to clean the equipment.

AIVL considers this kind of information to be a crucial 'missing piece of the puzzle' if we are to effectively meet the challenge of reducing the rate of unsafe injecting practices in Australia. Therefore, this study seeks to explore further some of the specific decisions and practices involved when people report re-use or sharing of injecting equipment from their own perspectives. The findings presented here provide a useful expansion to the current data. They can assist us in the task of gaining a better understanding of the complex reasons behind the continuing practice of injecting equipment re-use in Australia. Importantly, this research adds the voices of drug users themselves to the examination of the issue.

A note on language. Throughout the paper we will use the term 're-use' of injecting equipment to refer to the re-use of one's own equipment and/or the re-use of equipment after another person has used the equipment – often referred to as 'sharing', 'borrowing' or 'receptive sharing' in the research literature. Where a distinction is necessary and needed we will highlight this and refer to sharing to distinguish between the use of one's own equipment and that of using another person's. More on the use of language will be covered later in the report in the Overview of Literature section.

The full title is the Australian NSP Survey National Data Report. The most recent is Iversen et al (2014).

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

In 2014 the Australian Government released the most recent series of national strategy documents covering BBV in Australia. These five interconnected strategies include the National Hepatitis C Strategy 2014–2017 and the Seventh National HIV Strategy 2014–2017. They detail ambitious and necessary goals, objectives and targets for tackling BBV amongst PWID. Amongst these is the objective to 'reduce the risk behaviours associated with the transmission of hepatitis C' (Commonwealth of Australia, 2014, p. 8). One of the indicators is a reduction in the number of PWID who report re-use of another person's previously used needle and syringe. The findings of this report highlight that in order to achieve this we will need to go beyond merely increasing the volume of needles and syringes being distributed (which is necessary) and go further to provide access in ways that meet the needs of PWID.

AIVL recently held a National NSP Consultation Forum with PWID and stakeholders from each state and territory in Australia. The National NSP Consultation Forum found that there is 'a disconnect between the mode and timing of distribution and the needs of people who inject drugs' (AIVL, 2014). The findings in this report support this and outline a range of issues that impact upon the ability of PWID to access sterile equipment at the time they need it. These issues are often structural in nature and interact in complex ways with the individual circumstances of PWID. This report also highlights the varied and sometimes highly detailed strategies that PWID have developed in order to adapt to structural barriers and overcome obstacles to reliable access to sterile injecting equipment. Our research found a high degree of commitment to prioritising health and reducing harm within the community of PWID. Even within settings where one could argue that the structures enhanced the BBV risk (such as prison), PWID have developed approaches that are intended to reduce harm. Whilst this is heartening and admirable it is of concern that people who are often already marginalised by virtue of engaging in a highly stigmatised and illegal activity (in addition to any socio-economic or other disadvantages they may experience) are forced to develop and maintain what can be very precarious strategies in order to protect their health.

Despite having a significant number of focus group participants who identified as Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander in our study we did not specifically aim to explore issues of re-use for this group of PWID. However, it is well acknowledged that Aboriginal people who inject drugs are vulnerable to a range of unique harms for reasons that continue to be poorly understood, documented and responded to (Kratzmann, Mitchell, Ware, Banach, Ward and Ryan, 2011). Although detailed analysis of issues relating to culture and ethnicity was not within the scope of this study, our findings indicate some particular issues for Aboriginal PWID. Analysis of our focus groups, for instance, suggest that further investigation of the impact of heightened surveillance and public harassment of Aboriginal PWID and the relationship between this and subsequent re-use of injecting equipment is warranted.

This study attempts to better understand some of the perceived challenges and strategies to overcome them from the perspective of PWID. With this information, we recommend ways we can move from analysis and discussion to real action that makes inroads into the objectives of the BBV strategies and contributes to enhanced health and well-being of PWID in Australia. This report highlights the need for policy makers and service providers to listen to the experiences of PWID in order to better understand the barriers standing in the way of PWID having access to sterile equipment for each and every injecting episode. This is a critical and necessary shift in emphasis and focus. After all, as is so clearly demonstrated throughout this report, and in the words of one of our participants, 'no one likes using the dirties'.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Introduction and Background

AIVL is the national organisation representing peer-based drug user organisations in Australia. This means we are run for and by current and former PWID. AIVL works to represent the interests of illicit drug users in order to improve access to health services and enhance their human rights. We do this by engaging in a range of activities. Amongst them is contributing toward the production of high quality research and knowledge on topics of importance to PWID.

A primary aim of AIVL is to contribute to national efforts to reduce the transmission, morbidity and negative social and personal impacts of hepatitis C, other BBVs and sexually transmissible infections (STIs) among people with a history of injecting drug use. Hepatitis C is a major public health issue in Australia. An estimated 230,000 people were living with the virus in 2012 (The Kirby Institute, 2014). Hepatitis C transmission in Australia occurs primarily through unsafe injecting practices. Indeed, current estimates are that approximately 90% of new infections of hepatitis C in Australia can be attributed to unsafe injecting practices such as the sharing of injecting equipment during illicit drug use. NSPs have been identified as central to the prevention of hepatitis C amongst PWID (Iversen et al 2013, Kwon et al 2009).

Despite the relatively high number of NSP in Australia providing free and low cost injecting equipment for drug use, PWID continue to report high levels of re-use of equipment in the annual Australian NSP survey (Australia's main bio-behavioural surveillance cohort study relating to injecting drug use). In 2013 for instance, 24 percent of respondents to this survey reported reuse of needles and syringes, 16 percent of respondents reported receptive sharing of needles and syringes and a further 33 per cent reported receptive sharing of ancillary equipment such as spoons and tourniquets (Iversen et al, 2014). These figures have remained relatively stable over the past five years and show no signs of shifting. Indeed AIVL is concerned that there is potential for under-reporting of re-use of injecting equipment in the current measures that are related to the stigma (real and perceived) and sense of shame that can be associated with admitting to the re-use of injecting equipment.

It is also worth noting that the language used to describe unsafe injecting practices varies. The literature uses a range of terms to refer to the re-use of injecting equipment with varying degrees of risk for the transmission of a blood born virus such as hepatitis C. Terms such as 'borrowing' and 'receptive sharing' can be used interchangeably and refer to the same practice, that is, the use of another's equipment after it has been used. 'Sharing of injecting equipment' can also refer to a practice of sharing a drug mix between two or more people using new needles and syringes and 'clean' equipment. This practice usually poses very low or no risk of BBV transmission or vein damage. 'Re-use' refers to the use of equipment on a second and subsequent occasion either by the original user of the equipment or by another person. The risks associated with re-use are not straight forward and are related to a number of variables including but not limited to the impact on the vein health of the person, the hepatitis status of the person prior to re-use, and the condition of storage of the equipment being used.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

AIVL believes that gaining a better understanding of the reasons for injecting equipment re-use is particularly important as the rate of reported 'receptive sharing', that is the use of a needle and syringe after it has been used by somebody else (the highest risk practice for BBV transmission) has not declined over recent years. This study seeks to get beyond the statistics and examine some of the reasons for the continued unacceptably high rates of injecting equipment re-use among PWID in Australia from the perspective of drug users themselves.

AIVL understands the 'risk' related to injecting drug use is contextual and relative. Injecting drug use does not occur in isolation but rather within a social, legal and historical context. We are keen to move away from de-contextualised individualised notions of 'risk behaviour' that belie the complexity of risk practices for PWID. AIVL was also interested to explore the possible role that drug of choice might play in such practices. There is some recent evidence that the type of drug injected may play a role in transmission rates for hepatitis C in Australia (Iversen, Wand, Topp, Kaldor and Maher, 2013). It is most certainly the case that the increasing popularity of pharmaceutical opioids and crystal methamphetamine (Stafford and Burns, 2014) is likely to have an impact upon the kind of injecting equipment used and therefore the ability to access suitable equipment for this purpose.

It is AIVL's hope that the information gathered together in this report will be used to inform future research, as well as NSP policy, service planning and the broader legislative and policy setting related to illicit drug use and BBVs in Australia.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Approach to the study

AIVL is not a research centre or institute and has limited resources with which to undertake comprehensive and detailed research. We are, however, fortunate to have some staff who have a research background and most importantly, AIVL has unique access to PWID, the key 'informants' producing the main data of this study. Despite being the subject of many a research study PWID are often considered to be notoriously difficult to access due to issues related to marginalisation, stigma, discrimination and criminalisation (Benoit, Jansson, Millar and Phillips, 2005)). There are barriers between the researcher and subject (real or perceived) that are difficult to overcome in the often short space of time during which research studies are conducted. This can impact the quality of research findings.

A unique aspect of this study is that it was conducted in its entirety, apart from some members of the EAC, by peers of those being researched. This includes the development of the research questions, the facilitation of focus groups, the data analysis and the final write-up of this report. Therefore, to a large degree the divide between 'researcher' and 'researched' was minimised. We believe this to be significant due to the fact that research is very rarely conducted by peers of the subjects of the study, even less frequently when those peers are current or former injecting drug users. We also believe the perspective peers bring to the research and analysis process is qualitatively different and enables access to different kinds of data that may not otherwise be afforded a similar research project conducted by non-peers.

Research Questions and Methodology

The results presented here are based upon data derived from eight focus groups held across Australia with a total of fifty injecting drug users. It was decided that a qualitative research approach best suited this study as we wanted to go 'beyond the statistics' on re-use of injecting equipment. Qualitative approaches are often able to explore topics in more detail and depth and allow for an increased level of flexibility and adaptation throughout the study. As we were keen to hear from drug users themselves in their own voice what they had to say about re-use of injecting equipment and to allow participants to focus on the topics that they felt were of importance, we decided not to collect data via a survey or questionnaire. These methods, whilst having the benefit of increased confidentiality and flexibility in relation to their completion, do not readily allow for exploring responses in great detail nor do they allow the researcher to follow-up on topics raised for further exploration. It was decided therefore that focus groups would best suit this study. In-depth interviews were also considered as they offer some advantages over focus groups. However, resource and time limitations lead AIVL to choose a focus group method for data collection.

Three focus groups were held with PWID in Canberra – one with heroin injectors, one with people who injected methadone or buprenorphine and one with a group of people who injected amphetamine type substances (ATS) (including ICE). Two focus groups were held in Perth – one with people who injected ATS and a small group of people who inject performance and image enhancing drugs (PIED). Two focus groups were held in Sydney – one with people who inject methadone or buprenorphine, and one with a group of people who had injected drugs in prison. The final focus group was held in Hobart with a group of people who injected ATS. The data was collected over a nine month period from March 2014 through to November 2014.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Participants were invited to complete a demographic sheet anonymously collecting information on gender, age, employment and cultural background. Whilst there was no specific effort made to recruit a particular cohort of PWID we were interested to gather this information with a view that it might yield some useful data to be considered alongside other aspects of the research. Not all participants filled in their details and not all participants completed all aspects of the demographic sheet.

AIVL completed an in-depth consultation and planning phase conducted with the EAC prior to commencing the research proper. Out of this process came the main research question:

• From the perspective of PWID, what are the reasons for the continued unacceptably high rates of injecting equipment re-use in Australia?

Two sub-questions were developed for use in the focus groups to elicit responses that were used to inform analysis of the research question. They were:

- What kinds of things would lead you to lend/share injecting equipment with somebody else and/or re-use your own?
- Is there anything about injecting (insert drug of focus) that you think makes sharing/lending/re-using more likely?

This second question was developed to enable the study to explore the impact that drug of choice and type of equipment used might be having upon re-use and sharing practices among PWID.

One of the focus groups focused on participants who had previous experience of injecting whilst incarcerated and in this group the second of the two sub-questions was modified to read:

Is there anything about injecting in prison that makes sharing/lending/re-using more likely?

A review of the literature was undertaken and this was sent out for review by the EAC in late 2013.

Early in 2014 planning and preparation for the focus groups commenced, informed by the review of literature and subsequent feedback provided by the EAC. It was decided to keep the focus groups small (no more than 8 to 10 participants) to enable sufficient 'air space' for all to participate and for ease of later transcribing and analysis of the data. Small(er) groups also have the benefit of providing a level of intimacy which can be beneficial when discussing topics of a personal, intimate or 'taboo' nature. All focus groups were recorded and professionally transcribed. All of the groups were facilitated by two AIVL staff members involved with the project apart from one in Perth where for unavoidable reasons the group had one facilitator. The final focus group was conducted in November 2014 in Hobart.

Analysis of the completed transcripts began in late 2014 and continued through to February 2015. Despite this, an iterative process of data analysis commenced as soon as data was being collected as particular concepts, themes and ideas raised in focus groups were fed into subsequent groups. Two AIVL staff members read through the completed transcripts identifying and noting themes separately. A series of meetings were held to discuss and refine these themes and to develop loose categorisation of these. These meetings also helped to 'test' out the analysis and to triangulate the findings. The involvement of peers in the research and analysis process required careful reflection not only upon the benefits of 'insider' knowledge (of which most researching this topic lack) but also the need to regularly check for the influence of bias brought about by the researchers own perspective and personal experience.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

The table below sets out the demographic information obtained from the focus group and the participants. Where gaps are indicated the information was not available.

Focus Group location Canberra	Canberra	Canberra	Sydney	Sydney	Perth	Perth	Hobart	Canberra
Drug of choice or setting	ATS	OST	Prison experience	OST	ATS	PIED ATS	ATS	Heroin
Total number of participants	5	9	9	8	-	3	11	10
Age range	-	28 - 55	24-45	26-60	-	-	25-43	27-68
Average age	-	40	34	45-	-	-	-	44
Gender	3 men 2 women	6 men 3 women	4 men 3 women 1 transgender	2 men 3 women 1 transgender 2 androgynous	-	2 men 1 woman	7 men 4 women	5 men 5 women
Cultural background/ identity	All identified as Aboriginal	-	2 Aboriginal 1 Maori 1 Tongan 2 Anglo-Aust 1 Philippines	-	-	-	-	1 person identified as Aboriginal 9 people identified as Anglo-Aust
Employment status	All unemployed	Most unemployed or studying. One in part-time employment	All unemployed	All unemployed	-	All employed	All unemployed apart from one who was employed as a nurse	All unemployed

Table 1: Demographic Information: ATS – Amphetamine type substances, OST – Opioid substitution treatment, PIED – Performance and image enhancing drug

Ethics

As a small peer-based not-for profit organisation, AIVL does not have a formal requirement to gain ethics approval through a particular body or process and does not have a direct relationship with a Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) as would be the case within a university for instance. Despite this, AIVL prioritises the need to adhere to rigorous ethical standards in relation to all research conducted with PWID. To this end AIVL consulted with members of the EAC, a number of whom are currently working within national research centres and institutes that have their own formal ethics committees (often within Universities). The EAC provided input into developing suitable ethical processes for the study informed by their knowledge of the standards to which similar work would be held for formal ethics committee approval. It was agreed that submitting AIVL's proposal to an external research ethics committee would provide no additional benefit to the potential outcome of the research findings nor would the participants be disadvantaged by AIVL having not done so. Additionally, submitting to such a process may present significant delays and other difficulties that may unfairly disadvantage the viability of the research. AIVL therefore opted not to seek formal research ethics approval but rather to use AIVL's own internationally regarded 'National statement on ethical issues for research involving injecting/illicit drug users' (AIVL, 2002) to provide the overarching ethical framework and quidance for the project. This document covers a range of topics of particular relevance to research conducted with PWID such as consultation and consumer involvement, confidentiality in storing and managing data, uses of research data and consent.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

All participants were required to sign a consent form and were provided with an information sheet describing the nature of the study, outlining the processes in place to maintain confidentiality and the offering the opportunity to be provided with the results of the study if requested (see appendix for a copy of this). Participants were paid \$40 in cash for their time and expertise. Whilst there is some debate regarding the use of cash payments for marginalised research participants – especially PWID, we agree with Maher (2010) and Brogan (2010) who observe that often these hesitations are the result of stereotypes and misinformation regarding the perceived 'negative' impact of providing cash payments to PWID. Chief among the concerns is the perception that the money will be spent on illicit drugs. Apart from the fact that we believe it reasonable that participants should exercise agency and make their own choices regarding their spending priorities, there is good evidence that this concern is unfounded (Festinger, Marlowe. Dugosh, Croft and Arabia, 2008). We consider that a cash payment is ethically appropriate on the grounds of equity. PWID, like other research participants, incur opportunity costs when participating in research. We also view the provision of a cash payment as more analogous with receiving a salary or wage in return for the contribution of skills and knowledge.

Recruitment

Recruitment for the focus groups was undertaken by AIVL in collaboration with a number of AIVL's state and territory peer-based member organisations and Anglicare Tasmania. A recruitment flyer was displayed at drug user organisations, needle and syringe program (NSP) outlets and was distributed via peer networks. Word of mouth also proved to be an effective method of recruitment for some of the focus groups. The majority of the focus groups were held on the premises of a drug user organisation (DUO) or a NSP. Two were conducted at a nearby community space hired specifically for this purpose. These factors may have had an impact upon the demographic profile of the participants however we have no way of ascertaining this. The method of recruitment was chosen both mainly on the basis of convenience and in order to increase the likelihood of reaching participants. With more resources and time additional methods are likely to have been employed. The decision to hold the Focus Groups in the states that were chosen was made on the basis of convenience, best use of limited resources and also the desire to, as much as possible, enable exposure to differing settings.

Limitations and Obstacles

The AIVL study 'No one likes using the dirties': A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia, was a relatively small study undertaken with limited resources. Recruitment for the PIED group proved challenging and resulted in less numbers in this focus group than the others. The addition of in-depth interviews perhaps would have allowed for deeper exploration of topics for which there may have been some reluctance to share in the larger group, however, is it difficult to ascertain to what degree this impacted the detail of the discussions. Despite the relatively large numbers of participants involved for a study of this nature, we cannot generalise from these findings to the broader population of PWID. In particular it is noted that despite considerable diversity in cultural background, sexuality and gender, most participants were unemployed. With additional recruitment strategies and with the use of in-depth interviewing we may have been more likely to access a broader range of PWID including those working full-time.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

An Overview of the Literature

The hepatitis C virus (HCV) is a blood borne viral infection primarily transmitted through exposure to hepatitis C contaminated blood during injecting drug use (Edlin and Carden, 2006). As one of the most commonly notified communicable diseases in Australia, HCV is a major public health epidemic. Chronic hepatitis C (CHC) infection can cause serious liver disease such as cirrhosis of the liver and liver cancer (Lavanchy, 2011). It is estimated that some 310,000 people were exposed to HCV in Australia in 2013 with an estimated 230,000 people living with CHC including 80,000 with moderate to severe liver disease (The Kirby Institute, 2013).

Existing surveillance systems in Australia do not currently provide sufficient data to accurately monitor HCV incidence. Current estimates suggest that the incidence of new HCV infections declined between 2009 and 2013. However the rate of new infections remains high with an estimated 6,000 – 10,000 new infections per year (The Kirby Institute, 2013). People who inject drugs (PWID) are the population most at risk of contracting and transmitting HCV (Maher et al., 2006, Edlin and Carden, 2006). Available evidence shows that at least 80 percent of existing infections and over 90 percent of all new HCV infections are transmitted through the sharing of injecting equipment (Kwon et al., 2009, Wagner et al., 2011, Alavi et al., 2013, Robaeys et al., 2013, Iversen et al., 2013, Doerrbecker et al., 2013).

The population of PWID in Australia is estimated at between 75,000 and 250,000 (Aceijas et al., 2004, Mathers et al., 2008). However, AIVL notes that this estimation is now considerably out of date and relies upon modelling based predominantly on opioid user's. At this point in time no accurate data exists on the number of PWID in Australia. Estimates of HCV prevalence among Australian PWID vary from 41% to 68% (Nelson et al., 2001, Aceijas and Rhodes, 2007). Recent longitudinal cohort studies in Sydney and Melbourne provide more evidence for the incidence and prevalence of HCV among PWID. HCV incidence among hepatitis C negative people who inject drugs enrolled in the Hepatitis C Incidence and Transmission Study – community (HITS-c) in Sydney was 10.2 per 100 person years in 2009 and 8.5 in the years 2011 – 2012 (The Kirby Institute, 2013). Prevalence of HCV among participants in the Melbourne injecting drug user cohort study (MIX) showed that 182 participants (52%) had current HCV infection and 78 (22%) a previous infection (0'Keefe et al., 2013).

PWID experience high rates of imprisonment due to the illegal nature of some drug use, and the crime sometimes associated with drug use. Almost half of Australian prisoners report a lifetime history of injecting drugs (Butler et al., 2011) and HCV infection is very common in Australian custodial populations, with a seroprevalence of up to 80% (Butler et al., 2011, Butler et al., 2007). New initiates to injecting drug use, culturally and linguistically diverse Australians, women and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders are also disproportionately affected by HCV (Maher et al., 2007, Maher et al., 2004, Miller et al., 2009).

HCV cross-transmission between PWID is mainly associated with sharing needles and syringes (Hagan et al., 2001, Edlin and Carden, 2006, Koester et al., 2005, Gossop et al., 1997). HCV contamination of injection equipment may occur at various stages of the drug preparation process, which involves multiple steps and different pieces of equipment (Pouget et al., 2012). While it is commonly stated that risk of HCV infection through shared ancillary equipment (such as cookers, filters, water, and water containers) is similar to that of shared syringes, indepth investigations of risks associated with sharing this ancillary equipment is inconclusive. Given that the sharing of injecting paraphernalia among PWID is common, recent reviews find that HCV transmission through this route could be contributing to the growing healthcare burden associated with this chronic disease (Corson et al., 2013). However, the evidence to demonstrate that the provision of sterile ancillary equipment reduces HCV transmission or modifies injecting risk behaviours is currently limited by an insufficient volume and quality of studies (Gillies et al., 2010, Corson et al., 2013, De et al., 2008). Further research is needed

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

to establish the contribution of shared ancillary equipment to the spread of HCV, and the effectiveness of services providing sterile paraphernalia in preventing infection.

Over the past two decades in Australia and internationally, the successful implementation of harm reduction programs such as blood-borne virus education and needle and syringe programs has led to a decline in the prevalence of needle and syringe sharing (Turner et al., 2011). Still, sharing of injecting equipment (needles, syringe and other injection paraphernalia) persists and contributes to continuing high transmission rates (Hagan et al., 2001, Pouget et al., 2012). For example, according to the most recent Australian NSP Survey the proportion of respondents reporting re-use of needles and syringes (including one's own) in the preceding month was 24% (Iversen and Maher, 2014). Sixteen per cent reported receptive sharing of needles and syringes and 33% reported receptive sharing of ancillary equipment. Of concern is that reported receptive sharing of needles and syringes increased from 12% in 2010 while receptive sharing of ancillary equipment has also risen again from 25% (Iversen and Maher, 2013).

The Sex in Australia study found that among people who had injected in the past year, 12% had shared needles and 43% had shared other paraphernalia (Grulich et al., 2003). Evidence from the Illicit Drug Reporting System (IDRS) survey indicate that at least 7% of participants had 'borrowed' a needle or syringe from another person (that is, used a needle and syringe after someone else, or receptive syringe sharing) and 11% of participants had 'lent' a needle and syringe (i.e. used a needle and syringe and then passed it onto another person) (Stafford and Burns, 2014). Twenty four percent of participants reported 'sharing injecting equipment' with another person ("equipment" is denoted in the study as being one or more of the following: spoons, water, filters, tourniquets, swabs, and wheel filters). IDRS participants were also asked about re-use, 40% reported reusing their own needle and 65% reported reusing their own injecting equipment. Like the IDRS, the National Prison Entrants' Blood-borne Virus and Risk Behaviour Survey (NPEBBVERBS) found that 8% of participants who injected drugs reported use of unsterile injecting equipment in the last month.

The significantly different rates of sharing between the ANSPS (14%) and Sex in Australia (12%) in comparison to the IDRS survey (7%) and NPEBBV&tRBS (8%) is noteworthy. This may be a product of the fact the IDRS and NPEBBV&tRBS surveys are interviewer administered whereas the ANSPS is self-administered by respondents and the sex in Australia survey employed computer assisted telephone calls. Indeed, assessment of reported risk behaviours among PWID shows that those who receive assistance completing a survey (as opposed to survey self-completion) are less likely to report re-using a syringe after someone else (White et al., 2007). Self-completion of risk behaviour questionnaires should be considered as an alternative to interviewer administered questionnaires to maximise accuracy of self-reports.

Less data are available on the sharing of ancillary injecting equipment. One Australian study shows that of intimate partnerships where injecting occurred, 65% shared ancillary equipment in the last month (Bryant et al., 2010a). Similarly a survey of PWID who access injecting equipment at pharmacies reported high rates of sharing tourniquets (24%), spoons (43%), filters (22%), and drug mix (16%) (Thein et al., 2003). Despite the inconclusive evidence around the risk of sharing ancillary equipment, access to not only new needles and syringes, but ancillary injecting equipment is important for sterility.

While PWID continue to report sharing and reusing injecting equipment and HCV incidence remains high, strategies for reducing equipment sharing and re-use are needed. Evidence suggests that the per-event risk of HCV infection is small (Boelen et al., 2014) and thus strategies to reduce HCV transmission should include reducing the number of sharing events and reducing the per-event risk (e.g., provision of clean equipment and other decontamination strategies). In order to affect the sharing behaviours of PWID there needs to be an improved understanding of the reasons for injecting equipment sharing and re-use.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

This literature review aims to provide an overview of available research in relation to sharing and/or re-use of needles and syringes and other injecting equipment. The purpose of this review is to identify key issues in relation to the research topic and to refine the research questions and methodology for the "AIVL Re-Use of Injecting Equipment Study".

The research used as the basis of this literature review is derived from a variety of disciplines including epidemiological, clinical, medical and social research. Peer-reviewed journal articles, national surveillance reports and relevant grey literature have been included. Literature was reviewed for key insights into the reasons PWID share and re-use equipment, blood borne virus and safer injecting knowledge among PWID, social and contextual mediators of injecting behaviour and barriers to safer injecting behaviours. Sharing of injecting equipment has been a topic of interest in research for over 20 years with an early focus on HIV, rather than HCV. This review focuses on contemporary literature, emphasising that which is most relevant to HCV transmission in Australia, as well as including relevant international research and literature from the HIV field.

It should also be noted that the majority of the existing research has been conducted in higher income countries and contexts. It is therefore unlikely the same themes and issues would automatically apply or have relevance for other geographic, economic, social and cultural contexts, especially resource constrained and politically volatile environments with little or no access to sterile injecting equipment or NSP.

Risk Knowledge

Current research from Australia and elsewhere indicates that many PWID possess knowledge and an awareness of HCV, and therefore choose not to share injecting equipment with others (Ross et al., 1994a, Smyth and Roche, 2007). Education and safer injecting interventions, such as counselling, testing for HCV and information about needle and syringe programs, have also been shown to reduce sharing of equipment (Bailey et al., 2007), suggesting that increased knowledge about safer injecting practices help to reduce HCV among PWID.

Still, evidence suggests that confusion and uncertainty concerning HCV persists. PWID often do not fully understand HCV transmission risks or medical implications of infection (Rhodes et al., 2004). In particular, Australian literature suggests that it is common for PWID to be confused about the meaning of HCV antibody test results (Aitken et al., 2002b, Gidding et al., 2011, Grebely et al., 2011, Treloar et al., 2012). Young PWID and new initiates are also shown to have lower BBV knowledge. Data from New South Wales (NSW) shows that HCV knowledge is lower among younger PWID and that this poorer knowledge is related to increased sharing of injecting equipment (Bryant, 2013). Poorer knowledge is also associated with lower education attainment and unemployment (de Wit et al., 2014).

Perceptions of Risk

Much of the epidemiological data on PWID examines perceptions of BBV risk. Commonly, survey data shows that PWID rationalise the risks involved with sharing injecting equipment i.e. 'it won't happen to me', or underestimate the consequences of HCV infection. For example, a survey of PWID who collect equipment from pharmacies in Western Australia shows that respondents did not see themselves as highly susceptible to HCV and did not believe HCV was a severe condition (Wilson and Bryant, 2010).

While many studies focus on recording individual acts of equipment sharing, this approach is not able to elucidate the social context of risk behaviours for PWID. In some instances PWID will take actions to reduce the risks of contracting BBVs while still choosing to share injecting equipment such as cleaning used equipment (Burt et al., 2009, Hellard et al., 2004,

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Rhodes et al., 2005, Ross et al., 1994a, Smith et al., 2013). That is, the injecting practices that a person might engage in one circumstance can change across environments and injecting partners (Unger et al., 2006). Research reveals that equipment sharing is not a random practice but rather, it is shaped by context, individual beliefs and social relationships. This literature is discussed further below.

Risk Management

Research suggests that the 'risky' practices of PWID vary within and between individuals and that individuals also regularly engage in protective practices (McGowan et al., 2013). In particular, sharing injecting equipment has been discussed in the literature as a selective and strategic act designed to minimise risk, reflecting an individual's perception of whom they will share with and who they identify as being too risky to share with (Valente and Vlahov, 2001, Loxley and Ovenden, 1995, Rhodes et al., 2004). For example, research from the USA shows a tendency to share injection equipment with a partner of like HCV status (Burt et al., 2009). Among participants sharing injection equipment, 39% reported that they had intentionally shared injection equipment with a partner based on knowledge of their concordant HCV status. Described by Smith et al (2013) as 'sero-sorting', PWID will often manage BBV risk in circumstances involving close friends and/or sexual partners where hepatitis C status is known or assumed, and where those with a positive status will use injecting equipment after people who believe they are negative, possibly reducing the risk of contracting the virus.

Cleaning needles/syringes is an important second-line harm reduction strategy associated with risk management. Little evidence on cleaning of injecting equipment is available in Australia. One qualitative study in south-west Sydney indicates that cleaning and re-use of needles/syringes is common (Nathani et al., 2010). While all participants reported cleaning and reusing only their own equipment, none of the techniques demonstrated would have been sufficient to deactivate human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) or hepatitis C virus. 'In Hot Water' (Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL), 2009), a national consultation and research report, it was found many PWID will attempt to clean their own used injecting equipment when new equipment is not available to them. While the reasons for cleaning are very important and need to be addressed (particularly barriers to accessing sufficient new injecting equipment), it is equally important to ensure that PWID have access to safe, effective, definitive messages, and a means of practicing the most effective way to clean used injecting equipment should the need arise.

Research also highlights a number of issues that mitigate BBV risk management for PWID. Risk management via 'sero-sorting' is potentially less relevant in intimate partnerships. One Australian study found that couples with discordant HCV status were no more or less likely than those with concordant status to share needles or ancillary injecting equipment (Bryant et al., 2010a). Indeed, sharing of equipment is most common in intimate relationships (Cao and Treloar, 2006, National Centre in HIV Epidemiology and Clinical Research, 2007). Risk management can also be compromised when the individual is "hanging out" in drug withdrawal thereby feeling the need to inject quickly (Habib, 2003, Ross et al., 1994b). International research suggests that risk management can be negatively impacted by social determinants, particularly depression and previous experience of sexual abuse, both of which have been found to be associated with receptive syringe sharing (Strathdee et al., 1997).

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Younger Age Groups

Although they make up a small proportion of the current PWID population, younger PWID remain an important group for prevention and harm reduction. Research identifies the importance of targeting harm reduction interventions for younger initiates to injecting drug use. Young and/or new injectors are at high risk of HCV infection. Highlighting the susceptibility of new injectors to HCV, one Australian study found that up to 31% of PWID who injected for 1 year or less were HCV antibody positive, as were 53% of those who injected for 2 years or less (Miller et al., 2009).

Evidence suggests that young Australians who inject drugs possess low knowledge of HCV (de Wit et al., 2014, Bryant, 2013). Younger PWID have also been found to engage in high-risk injecting behaviours and that initiation to injecting drug use is often marked by a significant risk period characterised by unplanned events, formation of injecting partnerships, reliance on third-party assistance and the sharing of injecting equipment (Crofts et al., 1996, Roy et al., 2002, Hahn et al., 2002, Bailey et al., 2007). One study from NSW compared 18-25 year old PWID with those aged 26 years or older and found that young respondents engaged in riskier injecting practices than their older counterparts, with a higher proportion reporting that they shared needles and other injecting equipment (Bryant, 2013). Moreover, those young PWID who had shared equipment did so in a more risky manner than older respondents by sharing with a larger number of people and with people who were possibly less well-known to them, such as casual sex partners. Peer norms are thought to be especially salient in shaping the drug use practices of adolescents and young adults (Bailey et al., 2007, Hawkins et al., 1999, Thiede et al., 2007).

Research also suggests that sharing of equipment reduces with age. Using 11 years of a repeat cross-sectional study of sentinel samples of regular PWID Australian research examined the relationship between age and receptive needle sharing (past month) (Horyniak et al., 2013). As participants aged, there was a significant reduction in needle sharing suggesting that older PWID report significantly lower levels of high-risk injecting practices than younger PWID.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander People

The small amount of literature available on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander PWID suggests high rates of sharing in some regions of Australia (Kratzmann et al., 2011). Reflecting rates similar to the national averages, an Adelaide-based study found that 12% of the sample reported using a syringe after use by someone else in the past three months (Holly and Shoobridge, 2004). Other surveys, in other regions of Australia, found higher rates. In rural South Australia, 28% of respondents reported sharing equipment in the past 12 months (Shoobridge et al., 2000). In Western Australia, 43% of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander PWID interviewed reported that they normally re-use injecting equipment (Gray et al., 2001). Similarly, of those who lived in the Brisbane metropolitan area and who had injected an illegal drug in the past 12 months, 39% reported that they had shared a needle in the past month (Larson et al., 1999). The rate of sharing among Brisbane Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander PWID was even higher for participants aged under 20 years old with 63% reporting sharing in the past month.

In a recent paper describing patterns of injecting drug use and BBV-related risk practices among Australian Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal PWID, Aboriginal participants were more likely to share ancillary equipment (64.9 vs. 44.8 %) and less likely to know about BBV transmission (72.0 vs. 87.7 %) (Paquette et al., 2013). Aboriginal participants used services such as BBV testing and drug treatment at a comparable rate to non-Aboriginal participants however the findings suggest that Aboriginal PWID are at greater risk for acquiring BBV.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Despite a persistent notion of a 'culture of sharing' believed to occur among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander PWID, this has not been found in qualitative studies (Kratzmann et al., 2011). Authors note that they have not found evidence for a cultural value of sharing impacting on injecting practices (Gray et al., 2001, Holly and Shoobridge, 2004). Like the broader population of PWID, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander PWID largely re-use injecting equipment with a partner or within other close relationships (e.g. siblings) (Gray et al., 2001, Coupland et al., 2005).

Social proximity, intimacy, sex and networks

Research shows that sharing and re-use of injecting equipment is often patterned and influenced by social relationships. Research in Australia and elsewhere shows that higher levels of sharing and re-use is often associated with close social relations such as friendships, romantic ties and family connections between injecting partners (Rhodes et al., 2004, Sherman et al., 2001, Loxley and Ovenden, 1995). The extent to which people are connected to networks of other PWID (Miller and Neaigus, 2001, Koester et al., 2005, Lakon et al., 2006, De et al., 2007) and the nature of the relationships that they have with them can be determinant of needle sharing practices (Sherman et al., 2001, Valente and Vlahov, 2001, Loxley and Ovenden, 1995, Rhodes and Quirk, 1998). Within social networks, the more non-injecting friends someone had (or friends that did not share injecting equipment), the less likely they were to share injecting equipment (Sherman et al., 2001). For example, injecting couples in NSW were less likely to share needles with each other if they reported a low-to-moderate connection with drug using networks (Bryant et al., 2010a).

Risk perception is important in the context of social proximity as it has been associated with both past sharing and preparedness to share in the future, particularly within intimate relationships. Smyth and Roche (2007) found significant differences in risk perception when comparing PWID with and without a history of sharing with close friends and with acquaintances. Preparedness to share in the future was significantly associated with lower perceived risk in borrowing from sexual partners and close friends.

In order to elucidate the situations in which PWID would choose to share and/or re-use injection equipment McKeganey et al (1995) used vignettes about sharing equipment in order assess risk perception and impact of social proximity. The closer participants felt to someone, the more likely they were to share with them (this included friends and sexual partners). Only 27.9% of people stated they would not be prepared to share injecting equipment under any circumstances, compared to 68.5% of injectors who stated they would borrow equipment in at least one of the vignette examples. Highlighting the "social obligations" that PWID feel towards their community, more people were prepared to 'lend' equipment to close friends and partners than those who would 'borrow' from others close to them.

Behavioural surveillance data suggest that the majority of equipment sharing occurs between intimate partners. In 2007, Australian surveillance data indicated that about 60% of needle sharing incidents occurred between intimate partners (National Centre in HIV Epidemiology and Clinical Research, 2007). Other Australian research shows similar findings with 64% (Cao and Treloar, 2006) and 51% (Bryant et al., 2010a) of PWID who share equipment doing so with their partner. Less data are available on the sharing of ancillary injecting equipment, however one Australian study shows that of intimate partnerships where injecting occurred, 65% shared ancillary equipment in the last month (Bryant et al., 2010a).

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Qualitative research finds that romantic love and intimacy figure prominently in the lives of PWID, and that romantic notions such as commitment, trust, care and support shape how individuals who inject drugs talk about BBV with their partners and how they account for injecting practices (Seear et al., 2012). That is, the very nature of sexual relationships – that they involve commitment and intimacy – can impact on perception of risk and behavioural patterns.

The act of injecting together can be part of the bonding experience for sexual partners (Rhodes and Quirk, 1998). Sharing drugs and equipment can be an important part of a relationship, including the perception of intimacy that comes from sharing injecting equipment. Sharing injecting equipment with a sexual partner can be conducive to emotional bonding, commitment, fidelity and mutual trust (Habib, 2003, Lakon et al., 2006, Loxley and Ovenden, 1995). Qualitative analyses show how sharing needles can create feelings of emotional closeness, commitment and trust between sexual partners (Rhodes and Quirk, 1998, Loxley and Ovenden, 1995) and how a refusal to share can be related to distrust and a rejection of intimacy in the relationship (Barnard, 1993). Based on these findings, researchers discuss how sexual relationships "give rise to, and influence, risk behaviour" (Rhodes and Quirk, 1998)p. 158), and how the commitment and intimacy within a relationship can accommodate, or indeed facilitate, sharing of needles in order to demonstrate trust and love for each other.

It should be noted that most of the research available refers to heterosexual relationships and very little is known about same sex couples and injecting drug use (Hopwood et al., 2015).

Gender

Another correlate of sharing and re-use includes being female (Dwyer et al., 2011, Sherman et al., 2001, Barnard, 1993, Bennett et al., 2000, Loxley and Ovenden, 1995). International research has found that women receive used equipment more often than men, particularly that injecting drug use risks are more often tied to sexual relationships among women who inject than men. Women are more likely than men to: have a sexual partner who is also an injecting drug user; be influenced by their sexual partner to start injecting; inject with a regular sexual partner (than with friends or other members of their networks); share injecting equipment with a regular sexual partner; use injecting equipment after their sexual partner; and be injected by that partner (Brener and Treloar, 2008, Sherman et al., 2001, Strathdee et al., 1997, Bryant and Treloar, 2007).

Some of the literature draws attention to what they describe as a 'submissive' role that some women inhabit within male-female injecting relationships. While this is not always the case in every heterosexual relationship in which injecting drug use occurs, higher risks of BBV transmission are associated with women having higher sharing or reusing rates – frequently a product of relying on men to inject them after the male has injected himself (Martin, 2010).

In Australia Bryant et al (2010a) found a significant difference between male and female activities that took place prior to and during injecting. Compared to female participants, they found male respondents were more likely to take responsibility for obtaining injecting equipment, getting the drugs and preparing them and also injecting their partners. Further, cross-sectional data from regular PWID in Sydney suggest that risky injecting practices were high among women (with over half the sample reporting they had used a needle after someone else in the preceding year). Although larger proportions of females reported lending and sharing injecting equipment (males largely reported sharing only) (Breen et al., 2005).

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Social Context and Structural Barriers

While the larger proportion of the existing literature on sharing of equipment among PWID focuses on issues such as individual agency (including individual perceptions and knowledge of risk) and social proximity (including relationships and networks), a growing number of studies focus on social context and structural or environmental barriers including access to, and availability of, sterile injecting equipment. Sociological research suggests that complex "risk environments" (Rhodes, 2002) in which individual risk behaviours are shaped by social and structural factors, shape an individual's ability to avoid HCV (Harris et al., 2012). These include political and social environments that limit the availability of sterile injecting equipment and legal structures that constrain access, a legal and policy environment that focuses on social control and punishment of drug users and little social capital and social and economic power among PWID, which all contribute to stigma and discrimination (Maher and Dixon, 1999, Rhodes, 2009, Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL), 2010, Lomas, 1998, Latkin and Knowlton, 2005, Burris et al., 2004).

It is important to note that there is a significant amount of what is usually referred to as 'grey literature' in the form of peer consultations, policy discussion papers, articles in drug user magazines and other NGO publications that focus on the social context and some of the key structural and environmental barriers to accessing new injecting equipment and reducing sharing and re-use. Unfortunately much of this grey literature was unable to be included within the scope of this overview and relatively small scale study. This information does however remain as an important source of further learning and understanding, particularly in relation to the social and legal context in which injecting drug use occurs. How this 'context' interacts with the many structural and environmental barriers identified above that impact on the ability of PWID to use new injecting equipment and practice harm reduction strategies is also an important area for further learning.

Policy Barriers

Given that an individual's ability to avoid HCV infection is related to the maintenance of social and structural resources (Harris et al., 2012), structural changes such as NSPs can have a positive effect and have been associated with a decrease in risk practices (Gibson et al., 2002, Hagan et al., 2011, Holtzman et al., 2009, Kerr et al.) and a decline in HCV infections (Iversen et al., 2013). Given that injecting in public and semi-public settings, including cars, have long been associated with elevated risk for BBV infection (Bailey et al., 2007), harm reduction policies such as safer injecting rooms and the provision of opiate substitution therapy (Turner et al., 2011) have been shown to substantially reduce the risk of BBVs among PWID.

The majority of policy-focused research examines access to new injecting equipment (an essential resource in avoiding BBV). International research shows that higher needle and syringe coverage is strongly associated with reduced receptive syringe sharing (Bluthenthal et al., 2007). While Australian NSP attendees report high syringe coverage by international standards, prevention efforts could be scaled up. Approximately 20% of PWID are estimated to have insufficient new syringes for all injections (Iversen et al., 2012). International research also highlights inequitable access to the means of prevention among groups of PWID within poor minority neighbourhoods as one of the strongest factors associated with ongoing syringe sharing (Rhodes, 2009, Rhodes et al., 2005). Despite relatively good NSP coverage, neighbourhood access to NSP shape BBV outcomes for PWID (Cooper et al., 2009).

Looking beyond needles and syringes, Australian research evidences the need for new ancillary equipment, in addition to needles and syringes. In particular, high pharmacy syringe coverage did not diminish receptive needle sharing and PWID who exclusively access injecting equipment through pharmacies are more likely than those who use NSPs to report receptive needle sharing

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

(Bryant et al., 2012, Bryant et al., 2010b). This not only points to a need to possibly improve awareness within pharmacy based settings regarding the needs of PWID but also access to ancillary equipment at no cost in existing pre-packaged pharmacy products.

In a study that interviewed experts as well as reviewing available literature AIVL identify a number of additional policy barriers to reducing the transmission of BBV among PWID (Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL), 2010):

- Arbitrary limits on the amount and type of equipment people can access;
- Lack of after hours and 24 hour access to NSP and new injecting equipment;
- Increasing cost of injecting equipment through 'user-pays' systems;
- "Hidden" costs associated with accessing new injecting equipment for PWID such as transport costs which can be considerable when distances and public transport are involved;
- Lack of access to new injecting equipment in prisons;
- Privacy and confidentiality issues relating to the location and/or design of services;
- Surveillance (real or perceived) cameras and/or data collection in NSP services and vending or distribution machines;
- Lack of adequate staff training and support for NSP workers particularly in secondary outlets;
- Lack of awareness of NSP sites and the inability or unwillingness for NSPs to broadly advertise their location; and
- Limited accurate and accessible information on how to adequately clean used equipment should PWID find themselves with no other option.

International and National Evidence On Criminal Legislative Barriers

Laws and associated law enforcement practices are significant structural factors impacting on PWID exposure to BBVs (Burris et al., 2004). The experiences of PWID with police and the law enforcement system have been associated with fear and uncertainty that in turn raises risk practices (Burris et al., 2004). Studies in Sydney and Melbourne show how fear of police can lead to the unhygienic use of the mouth or nose to store drug packets, a reluctance to carry injection equipment, and pressure to consume drugs less safely (Maher and Dixon, 1999, Aitken et al., 2002a, Cooper et al., 2009) as well as PWID facing a higher risk of fatal overdose because they select injection sites away from police surveillance (Dovey et al., 2001).

In a study that interviewed experts as well as reviewing available literature AIVL identify a number of additional legislative barriers to reducing the transmission of BBV among PWID (Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL), 2010):

- Specific legislation in each state and territory preventing the distribution of injecting equipment by 'unauthorised' person(s);
- Mandatory/discretionary reporting in relation to harm to children, young people, neo-natal, pregnant women and families with children: and
- Local council by-laws and development applications pertaining to NSPs; and
- Drug laws in all states and territories and federally that criminalise both PWID and injecting & illicit drug use.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Summary

Current available literature on the circumstance and interpretation of why PWID share and/or re-use injecting equipment highlight a number of key areas for discussion. Given that the rate of HCV transmission remains high in Australia, despite education campaigns and relatively high access to NSPs, a more in-depth understanding of sharing practices among Australian PWID is required.

As commonly noted, knowledge of HCV among Australian PWID has increased over the past two decades however gaps in knowledge remain and a number of incorrect perceptions of risk persist (de Wit et al., 2014). This is particularly the case for younger PWID and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander PWID. New initiates to injecting drug use are a priority population for HCV prevention because of the high risk of acquiring HCV soon after commencing injecting drug use. Directed campaigns are needed to improve these disparities.

This review also highlights gaps in knowledge about modes of HCV infection. In particular, the inconclusive evidence relating to risk of infection via ancillary equipment. In the past in Australia we have seen inconsistency of messages around safer injecting practises related to cleaning of injecting equipment. Information provided by services and programs is frequently out of date, or incorrect and services avoid providing messages due to concerns about encouraging drug use or cleaning rather than obtaining new equipment (Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL), 2009). Given the high rate of re-use of one's own equipment, evidence about safe injecting and BBV transmission risks should be clarified and messages consistent.

Beyond individualistic modes of behaviour change, Australian and international evidence elucidates the inter-personal context of sharing injecting equipment. For example, several authors question the assumptions made in educational messages and materials whereby individual behavioural change is often the only factor considered (Fraser, 2004). In particular, because sharing practices commonly occur between sexual partners, the place of couples who inject together should be considered in prevention education in order to adequately address sharing practices (Dwyer et al., 2011, Fraser, 2013). Intimate relationships can be an important site for harm reduction, especially if harm reduction strategies are informed by the lived experiences and practices of PWID (Seear et al., 2012). Flowing on from this targeting of the inter-personal aspects of sharing injecting equipment, issues of gender inequality can also be addressed. Women are more likely than men to inject drugs within an intimate relationship, to be injected by and to share equipment with that partner and will therefore benefit from prevention efforts focused on the key dyad in their injecting relationships.

The most commonly considered social and structural barrier to BBV avoidance is NSP coverage. While improvements in the ready supply of new injecting equipment to Australian PWID is still necessary, future research, policy and practice must also include a broader approach to the health of PWID (Rhodes, 2002) and an increase in the use of structural interventions (Des Jarlais, 2000). An understanding of the social determinants of health and an empowerment approach to BBV prevention acknowledges the context of human rights and vulnerability more broadly. Beyond provision of education or equipment alone, there needs to be a shift in understanding of responsibility from the individual to a product of the social situations and structures in which individuals find themselves (Rhodes et al., 2005). The bulk of literature addressing BBV risks for PWID does not consider the political and legislative issues (such as NSP rules and policing laws) that intersect and contribute to a risky environment for PWID. Fear, uncertainty and social inequality shape risk practices and unsafe situations for PWID and should be reflected not only in contemporary research but policies and laws.

For instance, standard education campaigns that do not address the social and structural barriers for PWID, as well as their everyday lived experience, will have relatively little impact on the prevention of HCV transmission and sharing of injecting equipment. A greater focus on

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

PWID themselves and what they see as being the biggest obstacles to gaining access to new injecting equipment and/or using new equipment is needed. Researchers suggest that expanding education interventions to include relevant knowledge about common experiences for PWID, particularly the immediate, short-term concerns of PWID, may increase engagement in harm reduction messages, such as reduced sharing of equipment (Harris et al., 2012). PWID have good reasons besides the threat of HCV transmission for preferring new injecting equipment, such as venous care (Koester, 2012, Harris et al., 2012). Interventions that provide information through peer education training empower PWID and acknowledge that they have the potential to offer knowledge and experience that comes from the practice of injecting drug use and practicing harm reduction (Mateu–Gelabert et al., 2007, Garfein et al., 2007).

With the exception of the two main Australian sentinel quantitative survey studies, the Australian NSP Survey (ANSPS) and the Illicit Drug Reporting System (IDRS) in which respondents are asked questions about injecting related health issues, little is known about the 're-use' of one's own injecting equipment in Australia. While re-use may be perceived to be a 'harmless' activity (in relation to the risk of contracting a BBV) it is still problematic and a matter of concern for those injecting; especially given the rate of injecting related health issues (other than BBVs) routinely reported in these studies over many years. Such harms can include: vascular damage, serious bruising, abscesses and other injecting site bacterial infections that can and do lead to serious and life-threatening conditions such as endocarditis, septicaemia, spinal infections, gangrene and amputations in severe cases (World Health Organisation, 2009). It is also important to acknowledge that the more vein damage, the more likely people will encounter problems during injecting and therefore risk both a greater amount of blood present when injecting (particularly with others) and the likelihood of running out of equipment due to having to try multiple times and increasing the need to re-use. Prevention strategies that utilise peer knowledge and experience and approach HCV from the perspective of PWID has been shown to be effective (Harris and Rhodes 2012, Mateu-Gelabert et al 2007). In order to gain a better understanding of the motivations and priorities of PWID in relation to their injecting practices further investigation into the benefits of utilising peer based knowledge and understandings to address the re-use of equipment is required.

Finally, in the research literature different language defining 'sharing' is used throughout. This includes "recipient" (meaning person who receives the 'used' equipment) and "lender" (for the person 'lending' the equipment they have just used). As well as 'borrower', 'passing-on', 'ancillary equipment use', 'receptive use', 'receptive sharing', 'distributive sharing' and 're-use' (both of others and one's own) equipment. The language and meanings of sharing injecting equipment can be ambiguous; from the perspective of a research participant it could cause considerable confusion. In particular, these terms employed in surveys and research interviews are not always the ones used by PWID. In-depth research into the perspectives of PWID will help to elucidate the nuances and language of sharing practises in their everyday life, thereby bringing greater simplicity and consistency to the terminology used in research as well as validity of national data collection measures.

This literature review examines the key reasons for the continued high rates of sharing and reuse of injecting equipment among PWID. The available literature covers many of the key issues however gaps, including the issues highlighted above, remain. There is an urgent public health need to explore the sharing and re-use of injecting equipment in more depth, gaining a better understanding of the inter-play between PWID, their individual circumstances, inter-personal connections and the social and structural environments that surround them. In particular, a greater utilisation of PWID experience and their perceptions of facilitators and barriers to using new injecting equipment and/or using new equipment is needed.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Results and Discussion

The results presented here are based on analysis of eight focus groups in four Australian cities. A total of fifty people who inject drugs (PWID) participated in the focus groups, discussing their experience of re-use and sharing of injecting equipment amongst their networks. Although the type of study methods used means definitive conclusions cannot be made, several interesting themes emerged in the discussions. These themes and discussions have been explored in the context of research already conducted as well as exploring new ideas and alternative interpretations. Finally, recommendations for reducing incidences of sharing of injecting equipment were made based on the experience and suggestions of the participants themselves as well as analysis of the discussions.

Access To Injecting Equipment

Injecting equipment for drug use is provided throughout Australia in a range of locations and services. The provision of free and low cost injecting equipment through needle and syringe programs (NSP) as well as pharmacies has been an important part of Australia's national harm reduction response to injecting drug use for almost thirty years. For this reason, it is sometimes assumed that a person who injects drugs should be able to access the equipment they need for injecting whether they live in a small town or a large city.

Despite the comparatively high number of NSPs in Australia (Mathers et al, 2010) and the range of services through which injecting equipment is provided, PWID in Australia continue to re-use and share injecting equipment in unacceptably high numbers. A series of focus group discussions were held with Australian PWID to explore the reasons behind why they re-used and shared injecting equipment, and the ways in which these practices occurred, from their perspectives. As detailed above, the focus groups were held in four cities around Australia. They included Perth, Sydney, Canberra and Hobart. The participants had a range of experience. Some currently lived in a city, while others lived in a rural area, some had previously lived in different cities or country areas, and they used a range of drugs and a range of injecting equipment.

As detailed earlier, the focus groups were organised according to drug of choice. As is common to PWID in Australia, however, most of the participants had experience of injecting more than one type of drug. As a consequence, the focus groups often include discussions about drugs that weren't the intended focus. The fact that participants had experience of injecting more than one type of drug and were willing to speak about their different experiences most likely strengthened some of the information provided in the focus groups. Participants were able to think about the different drugs and compare their different experiences and injecting practices. We can also say that more participants than those explicitly in the amphetamine focused groups were able to contribute to information related to injecting amphetamines, etc.

A number of different factors were identified by focus group participants—as affecting their ability, or their willingness, to access injecting equipment. In broad terms, the barriers to accessing new injecting equipment were either physical, environmental or psychosocial. Some appeared simple but on reflection could be less straightforward than they appear, while others involved a recognised and sometimes complex set of potential effects and outcomes, each leading to the next.

The barriers identified in relation to accessing, storing, and being able to obtain injecting equipment when it is needed can be grouped into several themes. These were shown in the ways participants understood their own needs in relation to what was considered a harm, and how they protected themselves and others from these harms. Harms included but were not limited to the transmission of blood borne viruses (BBVs). In some cases, harms might include a range of issues with some taking priority over others at different times. At all times, no matter

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

what the reasons behind the choices made to share or not, came the question of access. No participant reported sharing equipment because they wanted to share equipment. If equipment had been readily available at the time they needed it, they would have preferred to use it.

Some themes did not just appear once in relation to a particular situation but might cross several other themes and relate to different aspects of the situation in different ways. It was clear from the focus groups that injecting drugs in Australia is not just a matter of appearing at the nearest NSP to get your injecting equipment whenever you want it. It is a nuanced activity requiring planning, adapting, and responding to a range of circumstances.

Access To Needle and Syringe Programs

NSP are a major part of Australia's response to BBVs, and in particular to HIV and hepatitis C. Most NSP in Australia is provided through a primary service in which NSP is the main service provided, or secondary services, usually a community health service or a hospital where injecting equipment is provided alongside other general health services. They are widely regarded as one of the most successful public health initiatives of recent times. NSP are part of the national health program, and there are primary and/or secondary NSP in almost all cities and towns in Australia.

The way services are delivered within these programs varies between states and services. The range and type of equipment provided through NSP also varies. These variations contribute to the ways in which participants reported being able to access the equipment they needed for their drug use and therefore, the situations in which they reported having to re-use their own or share injecting equipment. There were a number of other factors that also contributed to the ways participant's reported their relative ease of access to injecting equipment when they needed it that related to broader legislative and social factors.

The main barriers to accessing injecting equipment were reported as being:

- Opening hours and location;
- Limitations on amount or type of equipment;
- Type of service provided;
- Fear of punishment or repercussions; and
- Stigma and discrimination

Opening Hours and Location of NSP

Opening hours and locations of NSPs was reported as a major barrier for many participants. In particular, weekends and public holidays were considered by some participants to be a time when sharing of injecting equipment was more likely to occur. This was because NSPs are usually closed on weekends and other sources of injecting equipment were reported to be less reliable or less available on weekends and public holidays. Some of the participants, said they were rarely prepared for weekends, long weekends and public holidays. Even people who try to be prepared with spare "stockpiles" of injecting equipment get 'caught out' sometimes. Some spoke of this as being something that they felt is common to all PWID. There seemed to be a recognition that PWID often try to be responsible and prepared, but not everything can be controlled.

Many of the NSP services accessed by participants in these focus groups were reported to be open only during business hours. Some NSPs also close during lunch hours and have other regular times and days when their hours are reduced.

'Sunday's the worst, and long weekends and public holidays' (Sydney, prison experience)

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

'Vending machines get emptied, places aren't opened. Christmas and shit when everything's shut and you use a lot more than what you think, so you're pulling out all your old ones and shit.' (Sydney, prison experience)

'Often when you need them, everything is closed.' (Hobart, ATS)

'You know nine times out of ten is when you want it is when nothing's around 'cause it's early in the bloody morning.' (Hobart, ATS)

For a few different reasons, several participants reported a need or a preference to access a small amount of injecting equipment, enough for one episode of using a drug, and only when it was needed. For this reason, the opening hours of the NSP was extremely influential on their ability to avoid re-use or sharing of injecting equipment. Additionally, a few participants including those who preferred to access only what they needed when they needed it, reported times when they were unexpectedly able to obtain drugs. They were therefore unable to always plan their access to NSP at the same time as they needed injecting equipment.

'So you know what I mean, so...'cause I'm not preparing, planning to do doing this thing, it might...something will just sort of (happen) spur of the moment.'

Responding: 'Yeah, and then it's like all I've got is my dirty one that I haven't returned yet so it's like, well, they're sharp or whatever. So I just rinse it out with some bleach, or whatever and off I go." (Hobart, ATS)

Some participants reported that the opening hours of the service could change without notice. The participants were sometimes confused or unsure of the opening hours, locations, and equipment provided at particular NSPs in their local areas. Some participants reported re-using equipment because they didn't know where they could go to get what they needed, or times where they choose not to risk a trip to the NSP because they aren't sure it will be open.

'Yeah, but they're...like of a morning it's meant to be 10am...sometimes...ah, 9...sometimes it's 9.30.'

Responding: 'Well it used to be 9, now it's 10.'

Responding: 'Yeah, its 10 now but then it's sometimes not until 10.30am....' (Hobart, ATS)

'Access in Canberra is some of the best in the country.'

Responding: 'But we can't get them at hospitals like in NSW, you can't go to a hospital and get them.'

Responding: 'Well, we used to in Calvary, we used to.'

Responding: 'And Queanbeyan too but not now.'

Responding: 'Queanbeyan, I've been to Queanbeyan hospital and got them.'

Responding: 'Can you still get them? I haven't been there for a while.'

Responding: 'They've got them, they've got the black ones on the wall, you just go in and help vourself.'

Responding: 'Oh, I hate those.'

Responding: 'But they're better than nothing.' (Canberra, OST)

In Hobart, the primary NSP was staffed by one person. If the staff member was late or sick, the NSP would be closed when people were expecting it to be open. Therefore, people who access the NSP might be prepared to pick up injecting equipment but find the service closed. A few participants in this group said these experiences impacted on their access to new injecting equipment as they were unable to wait or be unwilling to wait an unspecified and unknown amount of time.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

'Say the place is shut, doesn't open 'til 12.30pm on Wednesday or whatever it is, we don't have a vending machine, or whatever. So I mean I'll reuse my own.' (Hobart, ATS)

'You're coming in, it's actually meant to be open and it's closed. Like you're waiting 20 minutes and then they're still not there to open the door.' (Hobart, ATS)

Primary and secondary NSPs attached to health centres are often located in the city or in major regional and suburban hubs. This is intended to increase access to NSP, as public transport is generally available in those areas. However, they tend to be limited in number and spread out with only a few across some capital cities, or in some of the smaller cities and major towns, one or two. They also are often located in areas where it is unsafe to use drugs. Their locations mean that many people who want to access them have to travel some distance from their home either by car or by public transport and return again to their homes or somewhere else where they can use the equipment. Outside of business hours, accessing these locations can be particularly difficult.

'That's why you'll find people reusing their own. Cause they've got no car. If it's after 7:00pm at night-time you're lucky to find a chemist anywhere.' (Hobart, ATS)

The time spent and the distance needed to travel to obtain equipment was recognised as a significant limiting factor for some people. Living in an area without easy access to reliable public transport added to the difficulties experienced by participants without cars.

'You can't get to the city a lot if you're not in the city.' (Canberra, heroin)

'You know Campbelltown...You know where they have to travel to get their fits? ... I think...is it? no, it's Liverpool.'

Facilitator responding: '... so how far's that?'

Participant 1 responding: 'Twenty minutes driving.'

Participant 2 responding: 'And imagine, you know, if you're hanging out.' (Sydney, prison experience)

In general there was a shared sense among participants that NSP locations and opening hours did not consistently meet their needs and contributed to incidences of re-use and sharing of injecting equipment.

Limitations on Amount or Type of Equipment

In most of the focus groups, participants were able to access as much of certain types of injecting equipment³ as they wanted, in particular the equipment that was needed for injecting heroin and ATS. For the Canberra participants, however, numerous barriers arose that were related to the small number of outlets, location and limitations placed upon how much injecting equipment people were allowed to obtain per day. Several participants reported the limited amount of equipment they could obtain each day had a direct effect on incidences of re-use.

'...with that Civic one (in the city), like, they tell you are only allowed six a day, but some days I have more, might have eight or nine shots a day....they're telling me how many shots I can have a day and that doesn't work out.' (Canberra, heroin)

'If you're living out of town and it's Friday you get three packets of 25 but if it's not Friday, you're allowed two packets of 25.' (Canberra, heroin)

For one or two of the participants in this focus group, the limited amount of equipment provided could be less than they needed on any one day. Therefore, going to the NSP because they intended to use drugs that day would not necessarily prevent them from having to re-use injecting equipment that day. They reported having tried to complain and ask for more than the

³ In general this refers to 1 ml syringes, swabs, cotton filters and syringe disposal containers

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

"allowed" amount, without success.

Participant (Canberra, heroin): 'I've argued with them so many times [about limitations on the amount of equipment allowed] and they sent me back a letter once saying that if I kept arguing I wouldn't be allowed back.'

In addition, some participants in the Canberra focus groups, spoke of an additional issue with the limitations placed on injecting equipment. They believed many PWID would have difficulty attending the NSP every day, therefore making it more likely they would sometimes run out of injecting equipment. For people with children, and people without their own transport, the ability to go to the city-based NSP daily could be at least difficult, if not impossible.

'Why do I have to go in every day to satisfy them? Why would I ask for more than six if I don't need them?' (Canberra, heroin)

'Because I can't get into town sometimes, you know. I'm too crook, can't go, can't get out of bed sometimes.' (Canberra, heroin)

In some locations where focus groups were held, NSPs that gave out unlimited numbers of some types of injecting equipment had either no or limited amounts of other types. For example, some NSPs limit the amount of large barrels (10mls or larger), wheel filters and butterflies they provide, and in some cases charge a fee for these types of injecting equipment. In NSW, larger barrels and butterflies were not allowed to be distributed by NSPs at all.

Some of the Canberra participants believed the limitations placed on injecting equipment by the NSP was directly contributing to increased HCV transmissions, and that is showed the policy to be based on lack of knowledge, discrimination, and a perceived lack of care. For these participants, the limitations were a symptom of the broader discrimination PWID experience on a societal scale (see section on Stigma).

'Their policy is adversely affecting your health.' (Canberra, heroin)

'The powers that be don't really care about our health or our situation or anything like that. They care about the cost.' (Canberra, heroin)

'What's cheaper, giving you a box of a couple hundred for yourself or getting new hep C (transmissions)?' (Canberra, heroin)

For some people, the stigma associated with injecting drugs seems to be a reason not to access injecting equipment through NSP. This is one of the reasons why having different types of services, and tailoring services to the needs of the many different types of people who use them, should be an integral part of Australia's harm reduction response.

Type of Service Provided

NSP services in Australia vary in the way they provide injecting equipment. For example, some NSP services provide outreach, after-hours services, or vending machines. Several participants spoke about the different types of services they knew about or had experience of accessing in their assessments about the suitability of NSP services.

In almost every focus group, participants reported that providing outreach of some kind, including foot-based and car or van-based outreach, and increasing access to injecting equipment to be available twenty-four hours a day would prevent people from re-using and sharing injecting equipment. Conversely, reductions in the way NSP services operated were reported to increase incidences of sharing and re-use of injecting equipment.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

For example, a drug and alcohol service in Hobart was reported to have provided NSP 24 hours a day in the past and other people in several of the focus groups had been able to access NSPs that stayed open until late in other locations or previous times. The closing of this particular service was reported to have had a significant impact on re-use of injecting equipment amongst local PWID.

'... There used to be a 24 hour bloody dispenser in town. A detox. And they stopped that.'

Participant responding: 'When they stopped that there was a lot of people re-using and' (Hobart, ATS)

The benefits and limitations of vending machines were discussed in almost all of the focus groups. Only the focus group with participants who injected performance and image enhancing drugs (PIED) did not mention them as an option for acquiring the equipment they needed. Although there are not vending machines in every state and territory in Australia, there was at least one vending machine in all the cities where the focus groups for this study were held and many of the participants spoke about vending machines as something they had used or considered using to access injecting equipment.

In more than one focus group, participants attached importance to vending machines as a source of injecting equipment, particularly after hours. Some participants reported the number of vending machines needed to be increased as there were few available in limited locations.

"...but if there was a vending machine say in, like, City, O'Connor, Woden, Tuggeranong, that gave out free fits that would probably stop you having to go into the bin and find your own fit and reuse again." (Canberra, heroin)

'There used to be one in Queanbeyan but then you've got to go all the way to Queanbeyan so that's ridiculous'. (Canberra, heroin)

In most of the conversations about vending machines, participants reported problems with them. Many of the participants reported having tried to access injecting equipment through the vending machines and having their money taken without getting the equipment, finding the vending machine had run out of injecting equipment, or finding it otherwise broken.

'I suppose you go all the way, you go into town, put your money in there and you get nothing. It's the only \$2 you had' (Hobart, ATS)

'You put in your money and it doesn't work) but then you think a second one and then, like, you still didn't get what you want so then you run around town, you got your change and come back, you know. It's not easy to do in Hobart at 2:00 in the morning. You know, you get two \$1 coins ...' (Hobart, ATS)

Where they hadn't had personal experience of problems, participants often reported having heard of problems from others. Many of the participants said these experiences, and hearing of negative experiences, resulted in a reluctance to access the vending machines.

'I've heard of people putting their money in and getting nothing.'

Responding: 'Yeah, they take it, yeah'.

Responding: 'That's why I don't use the vending machines, because of the reports I was getting that people were losing their money'. (Canberra, OST)

'You just don't know if it's going to be working.' (Hobart, ATS)

As stigma towards PWID featured regularly in the focus groups discussions, it was interesting to note, that while none of the participants reported they would ever vandalise or break a vending machine, and didn't know anyone who had done so, some were quick to attribute blame to "other" users of the machines rather than non-users or people who disagree with NSP.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

'There are a lot of selfish people that would want to break into it because they're doing that for a hit.' (Canberra, ATS)

Despite the problems associated with them, vending machines were reported to be an important component in increasing access to injecting equipment. Several participants, and most groups, mentioned vending machines as an option when NSPs were closed. A couple of the participants reported using vending machines regularly, particularly people who felt they couldn't stockpile injecting equipment in their homes, accessing it only when they needed it.

'It is good if it is after hours though, and it does work for you.'

Responding: 'I'm happy with the machine.' (Hobart, ATS)

Vending machines tend to be used in emergency situations such as when other services are closed. As some people are more likely to use a vending machine when there is no other option, the problems associated with them can have a significant impact on the likelihood of people sharing injecting equipment. This is possibly a contributing factor to the participants listening to and repeating rumours about their problems without necessarily having experienced those problems themselves. These rumours appear to have a strong effect on some people's willingness to use a vending machine in a situation where they can access a different service, or even when their only other option is to share or re-use injecting equipment.

These discussions, and the strength of opinion expressed in the focus groups, support vending machines as being an important and necessary part of Australia's harm reduction response. However, while there are so many problems associated with vending machines, they are likely to be under-utilised.

Access to Injecting Equipment Through Pharmacies

Many participants in each of the focus groups, regardless of the type of drug used, reported using pharmacies at least some of the time to obtain their injecting equipment. As many of the focus groups were held with participants recruited through primary NSP, the common use of pharmacies is important to understand. For some participants, there was a perception that "everyone" who injects drugs will have a time when they need injecting equipment at short notice and the NSP they might prefer to use will not be open.

'There's always a weekend.' (Sydney, prison experience)

Although they used pharmacies, they were viewed by many participants to contribute to several barriers in relation to accessing injecting equipment. The barriers reported fit into four main categories:

- Cost of equipment;
- Range of equipment provided;
- Limited number of participating pharmacies; and
- Stigma towards people who use drugs.

For most participants in these focus groups, pharmacies were not the only or even primary place they accessed injecting equipment. Discussions in the focus groups, whether participants reported stockpiling injecting equipment or accessing it only as needed, recognised there will be unexpected situations where PWID will be in need of injecting equipment and having to find an alternate solution to NSP. For some, this was when alternative options such as pharmacies and NSPs, or in some cases more convenient options, were important.

'I can go to the chemist or vending machine. Or re-use. I re-use it. I always re-use my own at home.' (Hobart, ATS)

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

The issue of cost was discussed several times in relation to accessing pharmacies. Some participants reported a willingness to pay pharmacies a price for injecting equipment. This was particularly the case in a focus group held in Canberra, where pharmacies are paid to artificially control the price of fitpacks at two dollars. Some participants in these focus groups reported a preference for accessing a pharmacy as compared to a vending machine as they would pay the same price but found the pharmacy more reliable.

'It (the vending machine) worked once or twice. More times I've been there it's been off.... Take yourself down to the chemist because it's guaranteed.' (Canberra, ATS)

For some participants, however, the cost of fitpacks was a noticeable barrier even when the price was fixed. More than one participant the cost of buying injecting equipment at pharmacies as an issue that could lead to people having no new injecting equipment when they needed it.

"...some people can't pay two dollars for a clean needle..." (Canberra, ATS)

The issues associated with pharmacies varied by location. For example, in NSW, the policy preventing NSPs from providing larger barrels and butterflies means people who use them have to adapt or buy the injecting equipment from pharmacies. In Canberra, at the time of the discussion, the NSP only provided a limited amount of injecting equipment each day. This meant participants were often more reliant on pharmacies to obtain the less common types of injecting equipment. The cost of these types of equipment was seen to be prohibitive by many of the participants who had to buy it. Several participants reported having to re-use their own equipment, or in some cases engage in other risk practices.

'You can pay for them, but they're (large barrels), like, a dollar a piece.' (Sydney, OST)

'You can buy them (butterflies) from the chemist, but again, they're two fifty each.' (Sydney, OST)

'I'll always re-use my barrels all the time. But then, I'll end up selling it (methadone) to someone, and I've dipped my barrel in there, and I'll tell them and they don't care.' (Sydney, OST)

The lack of flexibility inherent in commercial markets such as pharmacies when trying to access these necessary products was seen as a barrier to accessing the minimum amount of equipment needed to inject safely. One participant described a situation which they believed showed pharmacies to be uncaring about their needs, demonstrating the business rather than health service focus of pharmacies.

'... We were 50 cents short and they wouldn't do it and I said to them, like "What if one of us have got hep C and we want to share this needle, or share a needle?", and they're like "Bad luck". I was like 65 cents (short) or something and I was so pissed off. They just didn't care, like, people don't know about drug users, you know. They don't ... unless you've lived like it you don't know anybody's situation.' (Hobart, ATS)

The number of participating pharmacies was perceived as a significant barrier in many of the focus groups. Participants had to know where they had to go to buy the equipment and reported difficulties some people faced in having to travel significant distances. This was an issue that cut across the type of drug being used. However, injecting equipment such as the larger barrels, wheel filters and butterflies posed a particular challenge because even fewer pharmacies sold them.

'There's only some chemists that distribute it.' (Sydney, OST)

'And sometimes they don't even have the larger barrels there.' (Sydney, OST)

This was also an issue for PIED, who reported they knew many people who were unwilling to access NSP and who are therefore probably more reliant on pharmacies and other commercial outlets.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

'That I know of, there are three chemists in Perth that'll sell you 3 'mil barrels and fucking 19 gauge draw ups for 23 and 25 gauge (butterflies)'. (Perth, PIED)

The limited number of pharmacies providing most types of injecting equipment at an affordable price has a significant impact on people who use a range of drugs, and people in a range of situations.

The issue of pharmacies that provide NSP was a particular issue in rural areas. The focus groups included a rural participant, and a few people with personal experience or friends who lived in rural areas. The problems reported by these participants related to the lack of choice they had. For example, the only pharmacies that sold injecting equipment might also be the only pharmacies that ran an opioid substitution treatment (OST) program. A participant in this situation worried their methadone program would be jeopardised if they bought injecting equipment from the same pharmacy. Confidentiality and social stigma was also an issue for these participants. The pharmacist or pharmacy staff were not trusted to maintain their confidentiality with their doctors, or sometimes with other people they knew in the community including family and friends.

'Not in Cooma you can't (get what you need). You can get barrels but no butterflies. And there's one chemist, or two chemists owned by the one crew, and that's where I dose.' (Canberra, OST)

'They've got half a dozen fits they'd use twenty times over, you know. It's like "Oh mate", and you know I take a backpack full down for them. ... It's the stigma.' (Hobart, ATS)

Cost, location, and limitations in the number of pharmacies providing equipment as well as the types of equipment provided were the main physical barriers reported by participants when discussing access to pharmacies. There were, in addition to these, barriers that related to fears of being punished or negatively judged. These will be explored in more detail in the following sections. As previously stated, pharmacies were not the preferred place to access injecting equipment for these participants but they were commonly used by them in situations where their preferred options were not available. Understanding the barriers to pharmacy access for PWID is potentially key to understanding why PWID may be more or less likely to re-use or share injecting equipment when injecting drugs.

Fear of Punishment or Repercussions

A few participants spoke of a fear of being discovered or exposed as a PWID. This fear revealed itself in different ways in the focus groups and was reported to effect participants' willingness to access, carry and store injecting equipment until needed. The possible outcomes of exposure varied and often related to who it was the participants wanted to hide their drug use from. The police or security were mentioned more than once, particularly by participants who were in the prison focus group or who had experience of being arrested. Thus, previous experience appeared to have a significant effect on participants' subsequent fear of surveillance and police searches.

'I'd rather use my fit at home than go to the city market chemist (where they call security) and buy a pack. I would rather use a dirty fit at home.' (Canberra, OST)

'I don't have them on me long enough for the fucking cops to get them.' (Hobart, ATS)

In a few conversations in different focus groups, people who had previous prison experience spoke of limiting the amount of injecting equipment they would obtain and of disposing of it immediately afterwards. They preferred not to have new injecting equipment on their person or in their homes. At the same time, however, they reported themselves or people they knew preparing for possible arrest by hiding a used and sometimes altered fit hidden somewhere on their person.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

'... They've always carried their own cut down, or their own old fit. Because you never know if you get caught, you get locked up, at least you've got your own.' (Sydney, prison experience)

Within the prison group participants also reported being vulnerable to being found with injecting equipment.

'... if you get busted with it in your cell, you're gonna get charged for it, okay?' (Sydney, prison experience)

In more than one focus group, participants discussed police powers and surveillance in regards to their rights. Although some of them knew about policies that were supposed to protect them when accessing NSP or when carrying injecting equipment, there was common agreement that these protections did not necessarily exist in reality. In fact, being seen at NSPs or being found with injecting equipment was mentioned in more than one focus group as something that would lead police to harass and search the participants more thoroughly.

'And I went to parole and parole said, "Oh, the police said that you're still hanging around Newtown. They searched you and you had fits on you.' (Sydney, OST)

'I don't want to carry that card (that is supposed to protect you if the police find you with injecting equipment). Because then I think, then they're going to search you completely.' (Sydney, OST)

The police and prison guards were not the only people with authority to punish the participants. Security guards had also been responsible for punishing people when they were trying to access injecting equipment. In one location, two pairs of people, an Aboriginal brother and sister and an Aboriginal couple, both had experienced being harassed, followed and threatened by security after buying injecting equipment at a pharmacy. Although the participants discussed these experiences in a way that indicated their knowledge they hadn't acted unlawfully, they believed themselves to be vulnerable to these acts, without legal rights. Whether their status as Aborigines was a factor in experiencing this discrimination was unknown.

'I've been followed. We were here, and I was walking with my walking frame and I copped abuse. Never went there, never did anything. I only got a fit pack and went to the car and they followed me all the way to the car and we copped abuse.'

Responding: '... I walked out of there one time, went up towards the bathroom to go up towards Big W and they followed me straight up.'

Responding: '... Even when I went to the toilet, they tried to break the door in, and I'm going to the toilet.'

Responding: 'They did it to me and him' (indicating her partner). (Canberra, OST)

'Staff members ring security. I have been in the disabled toilet, using the disabled toilet with my brother. All I was doing was using the toilet. And I had a broken leg and I couldn't even put any pressure....' (Canberra, OST)

'But then you go to the police and the police will not come and arrest them. They'll say, "You're a fucking junky, you should be used to it". That's their attitude.' (Canberra, OST)

Surveillance and police harassment was also an issue in other discussions. Some of the discussions revealed a belief among more than one participant that police would be going to some lengths to watch NSP and pharmacy outlets with the intention of harassing people who were accessing injecting equipment. The knowledge that Australia has laws to protect people carrying injecting equipment did not diffuse this fear, as being searched appeared to be a fear in itself. This may relate to the likelihood people who are accessing an NSP would have illicit drugs on their person, may have fines or other charges that could be used against them, or it may be for other reasons such as confusion about their rights and laws relating to drug use.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

'And they've got a camera outside, like so the police also watch you or whoever's walking in'

....

Responding: 'Yeah, I've seen them sitting outside.'

Responding: 'The cop cars sit there and watch....'

. . . .

Responding: 'So that could put people off by going getting some new equipment because the fear of that. ...'

Responding: 'But they're not allowed to touch you.'

. . . .

Responding: 'But when you leave they are.'

Responding: 'They can pick you up and search you.' (Hobart, ATS)

A few of the focus groups included conversations about legislation and policies related to carrying new and used injecting equipment. Some participants in these conversations seemed well-informed about their protections, while others were unsure. Some participants appeared not to trust in laws that were supposed to protect them.

'But then sometimes you get the fucken' arsehole coppers who will just ...'

Participant (responding): 'Yeah.' (Sydney, prison experience)

A few participants offered each other advice for dealing with the police should they be searched.

Participant (Sydney, OST group): 'You know, you could put them in your bag and say you found them on the street. "I'm just doing my civic duty"."

A few participants in several of the focus group discussions reported feeling the need to limit the amount of equipment they accessed and kept as a way of hiding their use of NSP and similar services. This was mainly because of a fear of negative repercussions if their drug use was discovered, some of which related to police but other reasons were also revealed. For example, a few women with children reported being particularly frightened of "the authorities" taking their children from them as a direct result of discovering injecting equipment in their house. These women were less likely to stockpile equipment and more likely to access only enough injecting equipment for one or two episodes of drug use. Most of them also reported incidents of re-using equipment as a result of not having spare injecting equipment.

'I usually only have one or two – that's it.'

Responding: 'Is there a reason that you try not to have too many around?'

Responding: 'No need for them.'

Responding: '...when you got babies too....' (Canberra, ATS)

'I just get a three pack, that's all I get, a three pack at a time and I bring the three pack back.' (Hobart, ATS)

Having their current injecting drug use discovered through accessing services or being found with injecting equipment was reported by more than one participant as leading to punishments related to their methadone or buprenorphine program. Some of the participants believed police, NSP workers, or pharmacists could intentionally break their confidentiality and tell their methadone or buprenorphine prescribing doctor that they were accessing injecting equipment. Punitive responses to their OST program was a serious concern, such as the removal of take away doses, and that these punishments could affect other aspects of their lives.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

'And I can't, I don't want to carry my barrels around, because I get searched by the cops and "Why do you have barrels? Are you shooting up your 'done?" And then they, I don't want (them) to ring my clinic.... And the next time I went to my doctor's, they said, "No". So I rang, they didn't say who rang them, but someone rang them and I can't get them [take away doses] anymore." (Sydney, OST)

The impact of being found to have injecting equipment, being discovered as a PWID, and being punished was described in a series of cause and effect by one particular woman. In this description, the woman believed being known as a PWID would lead to every aspect of her life coming undone.

'It's not the look that fears me, it's the fact that they then can talk to somebody and that's my methadone cut off and if I don't have my methadone, I can't be a mother. I can't go to school. My ex-husband will get my kids and just this cascade of other shit that I don't want to have to deal with.' (Canberra, OST)

The participants who only get the small amount of equipment they need for one or two episodes of drug use spoke of discovery, and punishment of some kind influencing their choice to limit the equipment they accessed. However, they also each spoke of being able to use a "dirty" when they had unexpected access to drugs. For some, carrying a pre-used needle and syringe was common, while others reported having one stashed somewhere for these, often unexpected, "emergency" situations. None of these participants explained why they would keep a pre-used needle and syringe rather than a new needle and syringe for emergency situations.

It is possible that for some people, a pre-used fit can be explained to those they don't want to know about their drug use as something that another person has used, or something that has been left behind by accident a long time ago, while a new fit indicates a possibility or even a desire to use drugs now and in the future. In the case of the police, this means an intention to take part in an illegal activity. Therefore, it may encourage more police attention. In the case of a loved one such as a partner discovering the fit, intending to use in the future may be seen as a less forgivable "offense" than having used in the past.. A new fit may indicate the other unforgivable "offense"; that the person isn't trying hard enough to not use drugs. In a society where illicit drug use is heavily stigmatised and criminalised, anything that discourages PWID from protecting themselves and others from sharing related harms is damaging.

Stigma and Discrimination

Participants reported both self-stigma, and stigma and discrimination from others. Stigma and discrimination from others was reported to have an effect on a number of levels related to the participants' access to injecting equipment and risk practices. Self-stigma also affected how participants reported their own experiences of sharing. Even when the participants didn't provide complex, detailed information about stigma and discrimination and its effects, the participants appeared to have a high level of awareness of stigma, discrimination and demonstrated an awareness that it had broader, societal causes and effects.

In the case of NSPs, some participants explained policies such as those limiting the amount or types of equipment people could access as being based on stigma.

'It's (the policy about not giving out larger barrels and butterflies) only fuelled by stigma.' (Sydney, OST)

Participants reporting of stigma and discrimination in accessing injecting equipment related most often to staff with low levels of understanding and knowledge of PWID, and pharmacies in particular. In some cases, participants directly reported a belief that peer educators, that is, people with a history of drug use themselves, would provide better services to them.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

'*****(mentions name of service) had this policy you had to be five years clean to get a job at an NSP and that's led to a lot of people with no understanding of use at all, which has led to a lot of people discriminating, giving wrong advice.' (Canberra, OST)

'... They have got to have staff people that are going to be easy with it, they're not going to be looking at him going "Oh...". You see, people like us, we can feel stuff like that.' (Canberra, ATS)

'It's a real power play, isn't it? That's the real difference between having a peer needle exchange and one that's run by that place (a drug and alcohol service).' (Canberra, heroin)

A different aspect of stigma was reported to be the reason some of the PIED participants reported they and their friends would not be willing to access NSP. Although there were only a few participants in the PIED group, they reported most PIED users being reluctant to access a service that was not only not aimed at people like them, but that it was aimed at people with whom they didn't want to identify. Stigma towards PWID was reported by the few people in the PIED focused group to be the main reason they wouldn't access an NSP to obtain their injecting equipment. The participants in this group thought other PIED probably didn't know NSPs were available, but wouldn't want to access them if they knew about them.

'I gathered there was a sort of stigma on this place (the NSP). I told a few people about it and they said, "Do you feel like a junkie?' (Perth, PIED)

"...it's a shame because people may not want to access the service, may look elsewhere just because of having to come here with a, you know, a different ... or not an addict or a drug user. And that's a common thing.' (Perth, PIED)

Several participants reported experiencing stigma and discrimination when they accessed injecting equipment through pharmacies. Buying injecting equipment at pharmacies had an additional element of risk for people who were on OST, that of being punished for illicit drug use, or punished for injecting their OST, through their OST program.

'I would rather use a dirty at home than go to the chemist and get ...'

Responding: 'And get judged.'

Responding: 'And risk my methadone.' (Canberra, OST)

Some won't touch your hand to take your money off you or anything like that.' (Hobart, ATS)

In some discussions, the attitudes of pharmacy staff had a strong impact on participants' willingness to access particular pharmacies for injecting equipment. For example, they would return to "the good" pharmacies, that is, pharmacies that were known to provide a non-judgmental service at an appropriate price.

Facilitator: 'So are you more comfortable at that chemist?'

Participant (responding): 'Yeah, the one down here in the plaza, yes.' (Canberra, OST)

Conversely, some participants reported the impact of negative experiences in pharmacies in which feelings of discrimination or lack of understanding by the staff resulted in an unwillingness to return.

'The problem is you get the packs at the front where it's just checkout people working at the front and they don't know about anything except the prices in the stores.' (Hobart, ATS)

Participant (Hobart group): 'I'll never go back there.'

One participant spoke about having to draw up the courage to access the pharmacy after having these kinds of experiences.

'It's for your own health – you've got to do it. It's pretty sad that a lot of people don't feel enough encouragement to go in there, you know?' (Canberra, ATS)

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

"... even though I know some people are strong in there but when it comes to going to the chemists and or somewhere where, shit, do you know what I mean? What am I supposed to say, or how am I supposed to react or act? There's a lot of ways of people when they go into places like that because sometimes people don't want to go in there because of that sort of stuff! (Canberra, ATS)

Some participants' statements revealed the complexity of being both criminalised and stigmatised. Although there are laws and policies that are supposed to encourage PWID to access injecting equipment, if they are being discriminated against or judged when trying to do this, it is not surprising people might feel vulnerable to the judgement that often comes with the illegality of their drug use.

- '... They don't want to touch you.... And I've snapped sometimes and that sort of stuff because, hang on a minute, do you know what I mean? You think you're better than me? Like in the sense they're sort of looking down at you because you're I mean, you're trying to do it the healthiest way and that's a plain fact.' (Canberra, ATS)
- '... I'm not going in there because she will be watching me, or what are they thinking or, do you know what I mean? There's a lot of things that what other people see me what they're going to think, what they're thinking, you know? That really makes people, especially people that use, paranoid.' (Canberra, ATS)

Stigma towards PWID was also exhibited by the participants themselves, either towards themselves, or towards an 'other', stereotype of a drug user. The stereotyped drug user was reported to be people who were selfish or thoughtless, and who ruined the services other PWID needed through their behaviours. For example, some of the participants reported 'other' drug users, not themselves or their friends, left used injecting equipment in public places or vandalised vending machines.

'They don't think of the consequences.' (Canberra, ATS)

'Sorry but what I'm saying is see a lot of people they will be heading up going, "Shit, I could get a bit of money out of this vending machine". Everyone would use it – they would be selfish enough to bust it and then the next person misses out, so if the machine was for free they wouldn't break it.' (Canberra, ATS)

The small PIED group also strongly distinguished between themselves and PWID, expressing opinions about PWID that conformed to the stereotype. This was a major reason they reported not wanting to access NSP.

'The stigma in the background It's a shame because people may not want to access the service, may look elsewhere just because of having to come here with a, you know, a different, ... not an addict or a drug user and that's a common thing.' (Perth, PIED)

In many ways, criminalisation, stigma and discrimination could be said to be behind almost every aspect of reducing protective practices and increasing risk practices among PWID. Despite the many barriers, however, PWID continue to adapt to their circumstances and develop ways to look after themselves and their communities.

Where, Why and With Whom? Drug Users Safety Strategies

When it comes to the sharing of injecting equipment for illicit drug use, it is often automatically assumed that sharing is inherently risky and that harm is invariably about BBV transmission . Research with PWID often focus on individual behaviours and incidences of sharing without examining more closely the circumstances in which needle and syringe re-use or sharing may have occurred.

As discussed by the participants in these eight focus groups, accessing injecting equipment

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

comes with its own real and perceived harms. Some of these were specific to individuals or circumstance while others were commonly identified in the literature and the group discussions. Although both HIV and HCV were included, the participants in the focus groups had several different and complex ideas about what constituted 'harm'. These impacted upon the decisions which were made in relation to minimising harm, and the reasons for why these decisions were made. It was not a matter solely of individual behaviour but a complex set of changing circumstances and social relationships. In most cases, though, the participants had developed strategies for managing or even overcoming the harms in ways that satisfied them.

Several participants in the focus groups referred to experiences they had had of re-using and/or sharing injecting equipment. Sharing, it seemed, was not a rare occurrence, but neither was it inconsequential. More than once participants stated a belief that 'everyone who injects drugs' would have had experience of being without new injecting equipment when they needed it, implying that therefore every PWID has had to re-use or share injecting equipment at some time. Only a few participants said they would go without drugs if they were available but they would have to share injecting equipment to use them, and even these participants often had experience of having shared injecting equipment or occasions where they might consider it.

Outside of the many complex factors impacting on the participants' ability to access injecting equipment, probably the strongest influence on risk practices was that of drug withdrawal. Many participants discussed withdrawal as being the major reason they had ever chosen to share injecting equipment or re-use their own and attributed it a major reason that would influence others, regardless of the drug used. For these participants, longer term risks such as BBV transmission were outweighed by the immediate harms associated with withdrawal.

'It's just a drug habit, a heavy one. And it's worse if you have both. It doesn't matter, like, what drug it is, your addiction. If it's bad, you know, it is the same.' (Canberra, ATS)

'And you're not running right off (to the NSP) if you're really sick and you've just scored.' (Canberra, heroin)

'If I'm hanging out bad, I can't drive. So literally, I can't drive without drugs in my system. ... I'm a hazard on the road. ... And it's got to the point where I've gone, "Well, I can't get there." It's either have an accident and not get there, or, so sometimes I've, yeah, got to (re-use or share injecting equipment).' (Canberra, OST)

Very few of the participants spoke of not caring about transmitting BBVs or having them transmitted to them. However, some of the participants spoke of 'other' people who would engage in risk practices such as sharing injecting equipment, regardless of BBV status. The participants were usually not close to these people, they were people from outside the participants' social circle. They were, therefore, relating incidents they hadn't directly experienced. The stories about these 'other' people may have therefore been a way to distinguish themselves from the stereotype.

'Then you've got a lot of selfish people right, because they've got they've got and they've got no life. They want to make someone else have no life, do you understand? ... That's wrong. I don't give a shit who it is but that's wrong if people can't say what they've got...' (Canberra, ATS)

In some cases, however, participants were willing to relate occasions where they felt they had put themselves at risk of BBV transmission by sharing injecting equipment. These incidents were blamed for their positive HCV status, and generally referred to in a way that implied regret.

'That's what I did on the day that I contracted hep C. I was very young and I certainly had not had any contact with the user groups and the older users that I've had since that day. Like, my knowledge is far greater now and I don't think I would fuck up the clean now. But I obviously fucked up the clean on that day when I was that desperate to use that person's fit. But since that day I've learned a hell of a lot and now there's always at least one dirty and one clean in

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

the house. If there's not one clean, there's one dirty. I never throw out the last dirty just in case.' (Canberra, OST)

Some other participants referred to close calls in which they had made a decision to share injecting equipment and had been lucky to avoid being 'infected'. These occasions were also referred to in a way that indicated the person felt shame and guilt. In these conversations, the person relating the incident seemed to blame themselves, to imply they had been 'stupid' or 'impulsive' in some way. They spoke of having regretted their decision to share injecting equipment, and had taken steps to manage the impacts as soon as possible. One of the participants related the fear and shame they felt in the months after the incident as they waited to find out the results of blood tests.

"... I had a scare earlier this year, where I straight away got a test, and I had to wait. I got a test, and then another test. And what lead me to using someone's fit, I mean, I, no, it was a solution. It wasn't a fit, it was a solution that had been in a fit. ... It was greed. Pure and utter greed. My greed that, that, you know, I didn't want the drugs to go to waste. ... I didn't want to take a risk, but I didn't want the drugs to go to waste. ... (I remember) just afterwards, and thinking, "Fuck, I've done this." ... "what have I done?" You know? "What an idiot!" (Sydney, OST)

In most of these conversations relating their own experience of sharing equipment, the participants had learned to adapt their practices to reduce the chance of the same thing reoccurring.

One of the main ways the participants avoided having to share or re-use injecting equipment was to 'stockpile' equipment. In places where the NSP provided unlimited amounts of injecting equipment, some participants would take large amounts such as a box of one hundred 1 ml syringes. Another strategy participants used was to make sure they had new injecting equipment in convenient locations. They would then ensure they went to the NSP when their 'spare' equipment was running low, thereby avoiding situations where they might have drugs but no new injecting equipment.

"... in my car I always make sure there's at least a full pack of (fits). So no matter what, so if I get stuck in the middle of nowhere, and I've got something on me, I'm alright, because you need support to hold the morphine and we're talking about tablets and I used to shoot up morphine pills. Now, if I didn't have it on me I would start ... and literally I'd make sure, if I was going to x, y, z, I'd make sure I've got a full pack, I've got the spoon, I've got this, I've got that. And if I didn't have it, I didn't go anywhere.' (Canberra, OST)

Other participants reported always keeping a used needle and syringe for 'emergency' occasions. 'There's always a dirty up high in my closet somewhere.' (Canberra, OST)

It was much more common for participants to report re-using their own injecting equipment than equipment that had been previously used by another person.

Currently, NSP are not a part of any Australian prison. Therefore, one of the few options a prisoner could have for obtaining injecting equipment that is new or only used by themselves is to steal them from the health clinic in the prison. A couple of participants from the prison focus group reported having gone to some risk to obtain a needle and syringe that had been used by the nurse on them.

'... (I had a) blood test and as soon as she turned around, I put my hand in (and pulled the) needle back out. Fuck it, it's my needle.'(Sydney, prison experience)

'I had my first blood test, as soon as the nurse put it inside the little yellow bin and went back to her desk, when she turned her back, I just pulled my own needle out and took it back with me in my pants' (Sydney, prison experience)

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

The harm associated with re-using your own equipment was often associated with the bluntness of the needle, and the pain and difficulty this might cause in the injecting process. However, a few participants also reported health problems associated with re-using their own equipment. A couple of participants reported re-using their own equipment made them feel sick, and a couple of participants' spoke of increasing the effects of HCV on themselves by using their own already used needles.

'I still get really sick with the stuff, though, if I re-use my own.' (Canberra, heroin)

'Well, the blood's only got to be out in the air for a couple of minutes and it's off and then you're using off blood. It doesn't matter whose it is.' (Canberra, heroin)

'And then you get abscesses and so forth.' (Canberra, heroin)

'I've already got hep C and I'm not particularly well, so I'm not going to add any more to the load.' (Canberra, OST)

The social context of drug use is recognised in the literature as being an important influence on peoples' injecting behaviour. Strong social relationships and the influence of group norms can have structural and attitudinal effects such as how people access injecting equipment, and the injecting behaviours that are considered acceptable.

A few participants used a process of marking their own equipment in a particular way to ensure they knew which equipment they could re-use. In one focus group a participant reported asking friends who used drugs in their house to mark their equipment in a different way to the ways she and her partner marked their equipment. These participants were all able to use this process on a regular basis just 'in case' they found themselves without new injecting equipment on an occasion when they needed it.

'I'm a big fan of marking my equipment.' (Sydney, OST)

'I bite mine on the top. My boyfriend will scratch' (Sydney, OST)

Another strategy for minimising the risk of harm was that of cleaning used injecting equipment before using it again. The methods they used varied, and participants were not sure they would be effective. Methods that were mentioned included:

- Flushing with hot water;
- Flushing with cold water;
- Flushing with a mixture of water temperatures;
- Putting partly used solutions through wheel filters;
- Flushing with bleach;
- Flushing and wiping with an alcohol swab.

'I would use the hot cold, hot cold flush, like assuming there's no alcohol swabs or bleach available. I'd use that or go without most times.' (Canberra, OST)

Most of the participants were very strict and clear about who they would share injecting equipment with. The focus group discussions replicated most of the studies already conducted with PWID in that the participants were most likely to report sharing injecting equipment only with partners. For some of these participants, this was not something that necessarily meant they considered themselves safe from BBV transmission.

'With partners I think you would find it'd probably be safe to say yeah, we all of us have had that experience (of sharing) with partners.' (Hobart, ATS)

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

'It's just what you put in your head really (that makes you decide to share with partners). We know that you can't catch hep C through sex unless you've got a bloody sore on your dick or something' (Hobart, ATS)

'... (you're) swapping spit anyway.' (Hobart, ATS)

Only a couple of participants said a refusal to share injecting equipment with a partner would be considered offensive or insulting.

'You wouldn't be too happy if you said to your partner "I won't be using the barrel after you.'

Responding: 'Yeah, "Man, I'm not touching that!"' (Canberra, heroin)

In a couple of discussions, participants reported using a process of 'sero-sorting' with partners or close relatives, similar to that of gay men in minimising sexual HIV transmission risk. The 'partners' would share injecting equipment not as a preference, but on occasions where it was necessary because they were already physically 'intimate' and 'sharing risk', and because they trusted their knowledge of each other's BBV status. The participants would use this knowledge of HCV status to reduce transmission risk between themselves and their partners and friends. For example, two couples in which one partner was hepatitis C positive and the other was negative had an agreement in which they knew the positive partner could use the equipment of the negative partner but not the other way around.

'I can use his but he can't use mine.' (Canberra, OST)

Several participants relied on others to tell them if they were HCV or HIV positive, and relied on their relationship with the person to protect themselves when sharing injecting equipment. Even in prison there was an implication that you could share with people you know. When it came down to a choice between not having drugs and having drugs, however, more than one participant reported bending their own rules.

'They'd (friends) be straight up with you. You'd know. Do you know what I mean? So it's up to you. It's your choice.' (Canberra, ATS)

Participants managed fear or guilt associated with sharing injecting equipment with others because HCV was something almost all PWID are living with, and was spoken of as an almost inevitable part of injecting drugs.

'Well they might have hep C as well so you think, oh fuck it, I've got hep C.' (Hobart, ATS)

Using found equipment that could have been used by others was mentioned by some participants. In these cases, the participants were usually speaking about times where they felt they had no other options and were in a state of desperation. Using other people's injecting equipment is, in some ways, a practice that is generally viewed negatively, something that is increased when the person who has used it is unknown. The discussions in which participants related having done this were told in ways that exaggerated rather than justified the experience, possibly to disguise a sense of shame or to offset fear of judgement from other people in the room.

'I'm going to admit it man. I, I've ripped a yellow bin off a toilet bin. I don't, I'm not proud about it.' (Sydney, prison experience)

'I'll pick it out of the gutter.' (Canberra, heroin)

Social factors were important influences for the participants in terms of their own potential risk behaviours and the ways in which they protected themselves and the people within their social groups. People who didn't have strong relationships and friendships with other people who injected drugs in their communities had to be self-reliant and prepared, even if that meant re-using their own injecting equipment sometimes.

'I can't stash because my partner doesn't know that I use, so I need to I don't need a ten pack,

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

I just need a one pack for that minute and then I go and get the next time.' (Hobart, ATS)

'I don't know anybody and I do have a stockpile just for that reason.' (Hobart, ATS)

Friends were reported by many participants in almost all the focus group discussions as being an important source of injecting equipment. Peer-based models were also suggested as a way to increase access to injecting equipment. It was noted that some PWID already provide new injecting equipment to others in unofficial but effective ways. These tend to be people in convenient locations with more flexible available hours than the traditional and official service models of NSP.

'You go to a friend's house that's stockpile's that big. Someone and there's heaps of mates going in all the time 'cause they stockpile.' (Hobart, ATS)

'All the drug users knew that they could knock on his door and get a fit after hours. He gave out a lot of fits.' (Canberra, heroin)

'People actually get a little bit organised, you know? Where, you talk to whoever your using circle is and you say "Okay, we'll have it here Thursday afternoon or whatever. Do you want any?" and everyone dumps their dirties and it's more organised, you know?'(Canberra, OST)

Some of the participants themselves reported providing new injecting equipment to their friends. A few participants spoke about having 'stockpiles' of injecting equipment to give to friends if needed, or of obtaining 'extra' equipment they didn't need themselves when they accessed the NSP. For these participants, preparation and thinking about what was needed was an important part of their drug using experience or even a kind of social or community service. It appeared to be a role they viewed as important.

'We were just saying amongst one another we give out our clean fits to someone that asks for fits.' (Canberra, heroin)

'Yeah we share them out with, like, our community. Like she's at her community and I'm at my community.' (Canberra, heroin)

Social networks were also important for participants and their friends who had particular difficulties accessing new injecting equipment. For example, some discussions focused on the difficulties faced by PWID who live in rural areas including the stigma associated with injecting drug use, and the fact rural and isolated communities are often tight-knit, with everyone knowing each other and little chance of their confidentiality being protected.

'One of the things that's hard is when people that are in the country that use, right, with the stigma around it to start with the locals and getting to go and get it, 'cause they can't actually have it in the area where they are, they've got to go miles to go and get it.' (Hobart, ATS)

In these discussions, the PWID from rural areas had systems in which city-based friends, understanding their issue, would try to send or bring them injecting equipment.

'I'd go down and visit them and I...they've got half a dozen fits they'd use 20 times over, you know, it's like "Oh mate" you know I take a backpack full down for them.' (Hobart, ATS)

'He (my friend) sends me one week and then collects two and then when I come in I collect one. So between me and somebody who does a fair bit of running around [for me] I'm covered.' (Canberra, OST)

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

One of the rural-based participants had a complex strategy for ensuring she would be able to access enough injecting equipment each month to have a new butterfly and barrel for each injecting episode. This person would access an NSP once a month in a trip that required several hours of driving and in between, a friend would both pick up some equipment from the local NSP and either keep it for them until they could visit or post it to the participant. The situation was made more complex because, at the time of the discussion, the closest NSP in Canberra placed limitations on how much injecting equipment could be taken each day.

'... (To come to the NSP) it's a 260 K round trip.'

Participant 2 (responding): 'So how often do you have to come here then?'

Participant 1 (responding): 'Well, I've got somebody here who will stick something in the mail for me too, so usually once a month I do a run.'

Facilitator (responding): 'And are you allowed to pick up more equipment on your trips to Canberra because you're an out of stater? ...'

Participant 1 (responding): 'My partner in crime does a pick up on my behalf once a week, so I get those as well as my own. So then I'm set for the month, you know?' (Canberra, OST)

For the other participants in this focus group, it was obvious the system that the rural participant and their friend had implemented was a highly precarious one. Many factors could interrupt the supply and result in the person being left without enough new injecting equipment, whereby the person would have to re-use equipment or go without.

'But see, the thing is, she's at risk because it's just this continuous, if for some reason one of those drops doesn't get to her, you know' (Canberra, OST)

The PIED participants also reported a reliance on friends to educate them about how to access equipment, such as through internet sites or pharmacies that sold them, as well as providing them directly to each other. The reason for accessing peers differed to that of the participants in other focus groups. It was because the participants didn't know about NSP and/or wouldn't want to go to an NSP.

'I got it (injecting equipment) through a few friends.' (Perth, PIED)

NSPs that limit the amount of equipment a person can take at any one time do not take into account the reasons PWID might larger amounts of equipment such as poor veins and different drugs that are used frequently. It also does not provide for people who are gathering equipment for more than one person. It was clear from the discussions that many people access NSPs not just for themselves or their partners, but also for friends and others in their communities. The ability to go to a friend's house and access injecting equipment when it was needed was a solution to the limited hours of NSPs, the sometimes more inaccessible or inconvenient locations, and the fear of being punished if drug use is discovered.

Along with the perception of several participants that they and their friends accessed extra new injecting equipment and provided it to others as a public service, a number of the participants had strong negative opinions about giving their used injecting equipment to others to use. As with borrowing used injecting equipment from others, lending it to others was something people considered carefully, in a small number of cases with the view to protecting themselves as much as others.

'No bloody way (I'd lend mine) 'cause if you find out you've got hep C, I know I've gotten rid of the hep C, but you're not pinning it on me, you know what I mean.' (Hobart, ATS)

Several participants reported experiences of having someone ask if they could 'borrow' or use their already used injecting equipment, something that was reported as being difficult either because the person felt it made them look like a 'junky' or because they understood lending

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

equipment to be a behaviour that would put someone else at risk. In either case, lending used injecting equipment to others was a decision that was not taken lightly. The participants appeared to take responsibility not just for their own safety but also for the safety of others in their circles. Most participants in these circumstances would try to reduce risk to others by telling them of their own HCV status and encouraging them to clean the equipment. It was considered the person's own responsibility once they had been given the knowledge to make an informed choice.

'Like the other week, there was no clean fits and I, I was having a shot with someone, and I go, "Bro, I've got hep C." And he goes, "No, that's alright. Have a swig.' (Sydney, prison experience)

Although most of the participants initially said they would refuse to lend their used injecting equipment to another person, many of them also said there were factors that would convince them to change their minds. The most common of these was seeing the person in withdrawal. The participants' spoke of empathising with how the person was feeling, knowing if they were in the same situation they would also consider using another person's injecting equipment. This is something that has been shown in other research, reflecting the empathy and social obligations people dependent on opiates feel towards others in their community.

'Well, I did tell him that I had hep C, and he still didn't care. Well, like I said, he was literally spewing and shitting on himself. He was a sick man, yep.' (Canberra, OST)

'I told him about twenty times "It's dirty" but they're still begging you, crying' (Canberra, OST)

Most of the participants who discussed lending their equipment to others used strategies to mitigate the risk to the people who were borrowing it. In particular, they encouraged the person to clean the equipment to protect themselves from BBV transmission. Cleaning methods that were discussed varied, and several of these conversations revealed confusion about the most effective ways to clean needles and syringes.

'Squeeze the swab together 'cause it's alcohol and draw that back to clean it out.'

Responding: 'Boil it, boiling water.'

Responding: 'Aftershave, anything like that.'

Responding: 'And then, as I say, cold water's really good too.'

Responding: '... someone said to me to use warm water.'

Responding: '...'cause it also makes the plastic, something to do with the plastic and germs can absorb in plastic in really hot water.'

Responding: '... so there's stuff we don't even know about like that. How long does it (HIV) stay alive, you know? All that.' (Hobart, ATS)

In a few focus groups including the focus group with participants who had spent time in prison, the lack of options for obtaining new injecting equipment did not stop participants from making decisions based on actual or perceived knowledge of a person's BBV status, reliance on people that were known to them to be honest about their BBV status or just people who were known.

'I'm a bad junkie. You know, if you says you haven't got it, you ain't got it.' (Sydney, prison experience)

'It is my mate, I suppose. I would take me mate's word for it.' (Canberra, ATS)

Within the prison environment the consequence for not fulfilling the obligation to tell others of a positive BBV status before lending them used equipment, could be severe. Participants both within and outside the prison focus group spoke disparagingly of the 'type of person' who wouldn't tell others of their BBV status and the punishments they received or even deserved.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

'HIV inmates should be charged with attempted murder if they infect someone.' (Sydney, prison experience)

However, some of the prison group participants were more circumspect. This group was one of the only focus groups who spoke about HIV as a concern, probably because they had been personally exposed to HIV as a risk factor in the prison environment through HIV positive inmates who were also injecting drugs in prison. Although some of these participants spoke of violent, potentially fatal consequences for people who were thought to have risked transmitting HIV to others in prison, they also recognised the complexity of the situation, as revealing positive HIV status in prison was also something that made prisoners vulnerable.

'But it is hard. A lot of them won't tell, like, they'll sit there and, too scared to say that they've got HIV. ... You don't ever want to appear weak.' (Sydney, prison experience)

'I'd rather tell them, than them finding out and getting killed.' (Sydney, prison experience)

HCV was seen as less of a threat in most of the comments made by participants. In the prison focus group, some participants spoke clearly about the similarities and differences between HIV and HCV. For example, they conversed about the improvements in HIV treatments, seen to be almost as good as treatment for HCV, spoke of people dying from HCV, and also identified HCV as being more easily transmitted than HIV. Despite this knowledge, HIV was still clearly seen to be worse than HCV in terms of personal health and stigma and discrimination from others.

'Inmates feel much more at ease admitting that they've got hep C (than HIV).' (Sydney, prison experience)

'When I found out I got hep C I just went "bugger it", because it's not an STD.' (Sydney, prison experience)

'Well, we've all got it (HCV).' (Sydney, prison experience)

The focus group participants in the prison group were the only participants who reported thinking about HIV transmission when making decisions about sharing injecting equipment. While concern about HCV transmission was discussed, it was HIV that the participants reported as being the factor that would prevent them from sharing injecting equipment in the prison.

'The dreaded (HIV) will stop ya (from sharing).' (Sydney, prison experience)

'As long as it's not AIDS.' (Sydney, prison experience)

However, there were some participants even within the prison focus group who reported the potential for HIV transmission would not be strong enough to stop them from sharing injecting equipment.

'There is no such thing as drawing the lines.' (Sydney, prison experience)

'Only for a certain amount of time (can you hold out) and then, like, you know, you give in eventually.' (Sydney, prison experience)

In another focus group the type of drug used had a direct impact on the likelihood of sharing injecting equipment. In this case, a culture sometimes associated with using the drug could also be associated with sexual and injecting related risk practices. A participant in the Sydney OST group related an experience about using ATS. This participant reported attending parties where groups of friends would use ATS over periods of days. The parties were aimed at gay men and would involve days of using drugs and having sex. Reducing the risk of harm in these parties required planning, systems, and cooperation from everyone in the party to be responsible for their part in the system. The focus group participant described the system as being potentially complicated as well as precarious. It was noted that 'accidents happen', particularly after the party had been going for a long time, or when new people who didn't understand the system were introduced.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

'I'm involved in a lot of gay sex partners, okay. And once everyone's shot up their ICE, things can get pretty crazy, so... what we do is, we're all given a different book ...with a sheet of paper So you're sitting here, I might be there. That'll be mine for the night. Two, three, four, and we'll all have our own things, and then put our equipment back on that. ... once that's injected and the clothes come off, anything can happen....and it usually does, seriously. so it gives us something to come back to as well. ... and we have everything, the porn that goes on, but an alarm will go off, we set an alarm so we all rehydrate And the other thing is that, to be prepared. If you've got six guys coming over that are there for a fuck and to shoot two point or however much ... It involves a little bit of, you know, preparation, obviously there's occasions where ... orgies,... they can be a bit tricky. ... with crystal, it's quite different to opioids.' (Sydney, OST)

It is outside the scope of this study to assess the impacts of wider factors such as social disadvantage or political, racial and cultural inequities on individual risk behaviours and vulnerability to BBVs such as those found in studies by Rhodes in 2002 and 2005. However, it is clear PWID are influenced by many different factors when thinking about and using drugs in the Australian context. There is no single, simple experience in which PWID find themselves passive victims of circumstance, reacting without thought. The fact most participants in this study had used other people's injecting equipment, lent their used injecting equipment to others, and were unsure about some basic facts such as the best ways to clean used injecting equipment to prevent BBV transmission are all serious areas of concern.

The people who spoke about their experience of using a range of drugs in this study made considered decisions to avoid harming themselves and others in the context of their drug use. These harm avoidance techniques are hierarchical, and are adaptable to changing circumstances. They also refer to a range of both short and long term harms, not just BBV risk, some of which take precedence over the risk of BBV transmission in some contexts. All of them, however, reveal willingness to engage in practices that are intended to protect people's own health and safety and that of their friends. It is essential for policy makers and services to understand the most important perceived harms to the individual PWID before occasions of unsafe sharing of injecting equipment can effectively be addressed and BBV transmissions reduced.

Conclusion And Recommendations

This study is unique in a number of respects. We believe it to be the only recent Australian peer-based qualitative study of this kind. We have examined the re-use of injecting equipment from the perspective of fifty PWID across four states in Australia. The study involved people who had close relationships with each other, some who were acquaintances, and strangers, all of whom injected a range of different substances. The focus group discussions focused on what contributes to the rates of re-use from their perspective.

The discussions covered extremely sensitive topics that are often difficult to speak about, even when all the participants and facilitators identify as PWID. It must be remembered that illicit drug use is just that, illicit. Speaking in detail about your own illicit activities to a group of people, including strangers when the information is being recorded is something that requires courage and careful consideration. Therefore, the particular activities participants were prepared to admit in this context could change significantly according to the people in the room and the conversations that were taking place.

In each of the focus groups we held, participants were willing to discuss not only others', but also their own experiences of re-using and sharing injecting equipment. For this reason, although sometimes a particular activity, perception or idea might be stated by only one or two people, we believe some of these statements may reflect more broadly the views of other participants in the groups, even if they didn't verbalise it, as well as potentially some views of the broader community of PWID in Australia.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Injecting itself can also be a sensitive topic. Outside of conversations with other PWID friends, PWID probably rarely speak about their injecting except when accessing injecting equipment or drug-related health services, or participating in research. PWID may therefore tend to be careful about the type of behaviours they will speak about for fear of punishment, discrimination or judgment.

As stated earlier in this report, most conversations related to sharing and re-use of injecting equipment in the context of health care stops at the question 'have you ever shared injecting equipment?' This study endeavoured to go beyond this question to explore the reasons behind re-use of equipment. For PWID, the admission of sharing of injecting equipment carries an expectation of judgement. As we have stated above, PWID are rarely asked for more detail about their re-use or sharing of injecting equipment. This research reveals that when the possibility of sharing injecting equipment becomes a reality for PWID in the context of their social relationships and personal circumstances, the conversation about how to manage the harms associated with this is usually an honest, detailed and thoughtful one. When there is not enough injecting equipment available (for whatever reason) for everyone, PWID take seriously the responsibility of adapting to the limitations and protecting themselves and their friends from the harms that most concern them as best they can. The data shared in this report will help to better understand how PWID make decisions about the re-use of equipment in such circumstances.

The study had a relatively high number of participants. In all focus groups except one we achieved the minimum (and in one case, the maximum) number of participants aimed for. In total fifty (50) PWID participated in eight focus groups across Australia. There was a good cross-section of people in terms of age, gender and cultural background (refer to Table 1), however, as is the case with much of the research in this area, the study participants did not reflect diversity in relation to employment status is something that warrants further attention in future research of this kind. This study was not designed to assess the impact of these factors on re-use and sharing of injecting equipment. However, further research examining the relationship between these factors and re-use is recommended.

As noted in the overview of literature much of the research relating to BBV transmission risk, particularly among PWID in Australia, has focused on individual risk factors and behaviours. While the participants in the focus groups spoke of circumstances in which their own individual decisions had an effect on BBV transmission risk, their understanding of potential harm was broader than just that of BBV transmission. Their strategies for managing some of these harms were innovative and often effective. They also had a broad range of experience and ideas for change in several areas. For these reasons, we have included many of their strategies along with others suggested by the results of the study in the recommendations.

Based on the findings presented in this report, we offer a number of recommendations. They can be grouped under the following categories:

- innovative and better quality service models;
- understanding, criminalisation and reducing stigma and discrimination; and
- priorities for further research.

Innovative and Better Quality Service Models

It was clear from the focus group discussions that participants wanted to use new injecting equipment but experienced many different barriers to being able to access the services that provided injecting equipment when they needed it. They were also limited by the types of injecting equipment that were supplied at these services, and by the costs associated with accessing the equipment, either direct (such as transport) or indirect (the cost of a fitpack for

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

instance). Services varied in their models of provision across the different states and territories, each with their own limitations. Prisons, of course, were notable for having no new injecting equipment available. Finally, stigma and discrimination, and lack of knowledge of staff around drug use created an additional barrier to accessing injecting equipment.

Many of the participants had their own suggestions about how incidences of sharing and re-using injecting equipment could be reduced. These suggestions focused almost exclusively on the ways NSP services are provided in the community and in the prison system. Many participants had experience with different types of service provision encompassing models that have been tried in the past and others that have continued in different locations around Australia.

The service models recommended by the participants that were considered to have the potential to have a significant impact on increasing access to injecting equipment and reducing rates of re-use and sharing of injecting equipment included:

- Outreach models in vans or other vehicles, on foot or by post;
- Unlimited amounts of all types of injecting equipment at no cost;
- Extended opening hours of NSPs including 24 hour services;
- Peer-based NSP;
- NSP in prisons using appropriate models based on input from prisoners;
- Government subsidised injecting equipment in pharmacies;
- Free vending machines in more locations;
- Safer injecting facilities;
- Fitpacks including injecting equipment for different types of drugs available from all pharmacies and vending machines;
- Workforce development for NSP and pharmacy staff to increase understanding and reduce stigma and discrimination;
- Peer distribution models including volunteers and PWID in the local community; and
- Better models for service users to provide input into services.

Most of the participants in the prison focus group agreed prison-based NSP was needed but some believed it would "never happen" in "redneck wonderland" Australia (Participant, Sydney, prison group). However, when they spoke of the way it could be done, they agreed the complicating factors were mostly related to power dynamics within prisons. They spoke of the need for prisoners to protect themselves from the impact of these power-based relationships, as prisoners with drugs or injecting equipment could be vulnerable to harassment or violence. For example, showing weakness to prison guards is something the prisoners avoided at all costs, and that included allowing the guards to know they were on OST in certain situations while at the same time, other prisoners knowing they were on OST made them vulnerable to being stood over.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

The participants with prison experience mostly agreed that;

- Prisoners need to protect themselves from legal consequences of prison staff knowing they have injecting equipment;
- Prisoners need to protect themselves from other prisoners knowing they have injecting equipment or drugs;
- Prisoners feel they need to protect themselves from prison guards or other prisoners knowing they are on methadone or buprenorphine; and
- If the model wasn't one that prisoners could access in private, confidentiality among health
 or NSP providers within the prison system would be paramount to an NSP model being
 successful.

Contrary to expectation, the study found few correlations between the type of drug used and reports of increased incidence of or different sharing practices. There were a few conversations in which risk practices were reported by participants that related to the type of drugs being used. In general, this related to the type of equipment being used. In particular, participants who injected opiate substitution treatment such as methadone and buprenorphine, or pills and other prescribed drugs, used types of injecting equipment that was often more difficult to obtain in the amounts needed. This equipment was more difficult to obtain because it was not provided in some NSPs, the amounts provided were limited in other NSPs, it was only sold in a limited number of pharmacies, it was not provided through vending machines, and the costs associated with buying it was considered to be unaffordable by many participants.

Pharmacies should be encouraged, through legislation and resourcing, to provide injecting equipment at an affordable price for PWID. We believe providing the types of equipment needed for injecting methadone, buprenorphine, other opiates and pills, in particular, larger barrels, winged infusion sets and wheel filters, should be provided for free at all NSPs in unlimited amounts, and that this could have a significant impact on reducing incidences of sharing and re-use of injecting equipment among people who inject these drugs. Fitpacks with all the equipment needed for injecting OST, pills and other types of opiates should be included in government-funded programs and provided free or for limited cost through pharmacies and vending machines. In addition, the number of participating pharmacies and vending machines catering to PWID should be scaled up in cities and regional and rural areas. This would significantly increase access to the injecting equipment needed by people who inject these substances.

This study clearly shows PWID have a range of different needs relating to their injecting drug use. The locations and opening hours of NSP and pharmacies reduces access to injecting equipment for people who need to access it at the time of injecting. A range of different service models is needed to cater to the different needs of PWID and their range of circumstances. Free access to an unlimited range of injecting equipment at all hours of the day and in various city, urban and rural locations would go a long way to meeting these needs. In addition, incorporating PWID themselves into services, from the design of services, through to peer-education could also increase access to NSP.

The participants themselves suggested many different ways injecting equipment could be better provided such as through different outreach modalities. One of the most important findings in this study is the potential impact support for peer education and peer-based NSP could have on reductions in sharing and re-use of injecting equipment. Some participants suggested they would volunteer their own services to improve after-hours access to NSP. While we would not suggest PWID should be asked to provide NSP on a voluntary basis, it is clear many PWID are already providing unofficial NSP amongst their friends and local communities.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Currently, most Australian districts do not have laws protecting or encouraging PWID to provide new injecting equipment within their social networks, i.e. peer distribution laws. It is essential laws allowing the peer distribution of injecting equipment be implemented as an urgent priority, and policies and resourcing to ensure their effective implementation also be introduced. At the same time, training programs for peer educators would likely increase the quality and number of these 'unofficial services'.

Understanding Criminalisation and Reducing Stigma and Discrimination

All of the people involved in this study injected substances that were illegally obtained. Injecting itself, and particularly injecting drug use, is also an activity that is extremely stigmatised in society. PWID usually try to keep their injecting drug use hidden. At the same time, PWID are encouraged to use new injecting equipment, the obtaining of which invariably involves publically admitting to injecting drug use to another person or at least undertaking activities that would be associated with injecting drug use – such as accessing a vending machine. There is therefore a disconnect between the reality of illicit drug use and the public health policy, provision and messaging related to BBV prevention which cannot be ignored yet is very difficult to overcome.

People related several experiences of stigma and discrimination as well as fear of stigma and discrimination. These experiences and perceptions had a significant impact on the ways participants accessed injecting equipment.

For example, several participants limited the amount of time they would be in possession of injecting equipment because they didn't want to be caught by police, by partners or by other significant people in their lives. This manifested itself in only accessing enough equipment for one incidence of drug use, and disposing of the used equipment as quickly as possible. As a consequence, these participants also reported regular occasions where they would re-use their own injecting equipment and in some cases would share equipment with others because they hadn't planned to use drugs and therefore were not prepared with sufficient new equipment.

As has been emphasised throughout this report PWID, including the participants in the focus groups, do not want to share injecting equipment. Re-use and sharing was associated with a number of harmful effects. However, the harmful effects were not always enough to completely stop people from doing it. Several of the participants reported keeping a used needle and syringe rather than a new needle and syringe for emergency situations such as unplanned or 'spontaneous' using opportunities. More research is needed to understand this practice and the internal rationale that PWID are drawing upon when doing this. At the same time, education of PWID and strategies to encourage keeping new injecting equipment instead might be effective. The most effective strategy would likely be increasing the range of convenient and quick afterhours options of outreach and other services providing injecting equipment. Advocacy and education with law enforcement also needs to be continued and improved to reduce incidents of targeting and searching PWID who have accessed NSP or pharmacies.

People who were prescribed OST and who injected drugs including their OST faced a particular barrier, that of being punished through their prescribed medication if their injecting was discovered. There was a high level of fear of "authorities" finding out about their injecting, police searching them and finding injecting equipment, or their doctor being told they were accessing injecting equipment by another service provider such as a pharmacist or the police. The ramifications of having their medications taken away or their takeaway doses removed went beyond just this, with participants fearful of spin off effects such as losing their children, their employment and subsequently, their ability to manage in their lives.

It is well recognised that people who are on OST do not always immediately stop their illicit drug use. Some people will continue to use other drugs while they are on OST. It would be

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

useful to advocate for improved protections for people who use drugs and who are prescribed OST, to eliminate measures that lead to punitive responses in OST programs such as urine testing, and to ensure confidentiality is maintained. This may be particularly important for people some PWID such as those who have young children, and those with prison experience and/or conditions relating to law and justice such as bail conditions.

Stigma and discrimination is increasingly recognised as a driving factor contributing toward and directly producing harms towards marginalised populations such as PWID. Australia's National HIV Strategy and National Hepatitis C Strategy both include recommendations to reduce stigma and discrimination toward people who use drugs, and people living with these viruses. The recommendations, however, rarely come with specific ideas for how to address stigma and discrimination or key indicators to indicate success.

We recommend a comprehensive strategy to address stigma and discrimination toward PWID among health workers, NSP workers, pharmacists and pharmacy staff and staff of other services likely to work with PWID. AIVL has developed a training model for healthcare workers to reduce stigma towards people who use drugs, people on OST and people living with HCV. Training models such as these, incorporating the voices of PWID, can be used or adapted for a range of circumstances.

Additionally, it is essential drug use by itself not be an indicator for the removal of children from their parents. Advocacy and education for a range of services who are likely to come into contact with PWID including child protection services, law enforcement and justice services should be included in training and services. Legislative and policy that support maintaining children in the care of parents, particularly those on OST programs, when there is no evidence of abuse or neglect should also be considered. Further, services working with PWID should be resourced and supported to provide better quality, non-judgmental services to PWID and their families, that address any parenting needs that may exist within a supportive and understanding framework that does not stigmatise PWID.

Effective models of NSP should be implemented in all Australian prisons. The evidence for these programs is clear from prison-based NSP in approximately 60 prisons in over 9 countries (AIVL, 2008) as well as Australian harm reduction programs. Prisons are unquestionably vectors of BBV transmission in Australia. There is already support for prison-based NSPs from a range of professional bodies, policy makers and political leaders. It is time for the political will and commitment to take the next step and create policies and legislation requiring prisons to provide NSP to prisoners using models that are considered acceptable by prisoners, and that have been effective in other countries.

Further Research and Education

People who use and inject drugs have been and continue to be the subjects of research. Despite this, there is a need for further research that explores injecting drug use in ways that incorporate the knowledge of IDU themselves in working toward addressing some of the entrenched harms related to the re-use of injecting equipment. The available data gathered on re-use and sharing continues to tell the same story and the figures seem to be 'stuck' at an unacceptably high rate. This study provided an opportunity to get beyond the surface to better understand some of the lived experience of drug users and how this is impacting upon the current rates of reported re-use. Although AIVL was limited by resources and time, we have been able to demonstrate the value of research of this nature. More comprehensive and detailed research of this kind is needed into the future if we are to make inroads into the issue of injecting equipment re-use in Australia.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Based on the focus groups, we recommend concentrating efforts on researching some of the following areas:

- The impact of legislation and policy criminalising PWID on access to harm reduction services in Australia;
- The impact of legislation restricting peer distribution of injecting equipment;
- The impact of prior experience/s of harassment when accessing NSP or pharmacy in reducing future access;
- The impact of previous experience of arrest and imprisonment on how PWID access and use injecting equipment;
- The impact of fear of punishment and punitive measures related to OST on reducing access to injecting equipment;
- The impact of child protection and other service involvement on reducing access to injecting equipment;
- Ways to use better understanding of the impacts of drug withdrawal in reducing incidents of sharing; and
- Better education of PWID on best practice cleaning of injecting equipment in real world situations.

The focus groups did not reveal significant differences between the types of drugs being used and injecting related risk practises. Most of the differences related to the equipment needed to inject the drug rather than the drugs themselves. However, one focus group did show a particular group of people whose ATS use involved a culture of potentially harmful injecting practices.

In this case, a participant reported attending parties in which several men would spend a number of continuous days using amphetamines and having sex. According to this participant, it was common for these groups to use complex and potentially precarious systems to ensure all the men involved could keep track of their own needles and syringes. The systems were intended to minimise the potential for the party-goers to use other people's needles and syringes. Rather than ensuring a large stockpile of new equipment be available, the re-use of their own injecting equipment tended to be encouraged through the system.

Further investigation about groups of people engaging in these types of parties and practices is warranted. In particular, gaining a better understanding of the practices people engage in, the systems they develop, and the ways these systems could be strengthened could decrease risk associated with these practices. There may also be ways services could better engage with the people involved and develop education and programs targeted at increasing safety and reducing risk.

The study had a high number of people from Aboriginal backgrounds. Two serious cases of surveillance and harassment were revealed by an Aboriginal brother and sister, and an Aboriginal couple when they were trying to access injecting equipment. In each case they were followed by security guards and ejected from a public building, in one case after being followed into a public toilet. Other participants and focus groups also reported surveillance systems and occasions where they believed law enforcement were watching them access injecting equipment and targeting them afterwards.

It was clear from the focus groups, that people who feel surveyed, targeted and harassed, and people who are fearful of police presence, are less likely to access services where they believe they are vulnerable to these practices. They are also more likely to access equipment in ways that are designed to minimise the chance they will be caught with injecting equipment but also

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

increase their chance of not having new equipment available when they need it. We believe understanding the experience of Aboriginal PWID around Australia in relation to surveillance and harassment and accessing injecting equipment is needed. It is also important to better understand the impact surveillance and harassment may be having on re-use of injecting equipment and relatedly blood born virus transmission, particularly among some populations of PWID such as parents, Aboriginal people, and people with prison experience.

Many of the people in the focus groups who reported limiting the amount of time they were in possession of injecting equipment had experience of arrest and imprisonment. Several of these people reported always carrying a used syringe, often "cut down" and hidden on their person. Others knew someone else who had been arrested and imprisoned who also did this. Their reason for doing this was for the express purpose of having a needle and syringe that had only been used by themselves if they were arrested. While the participants did not or could not explain why having a used needle and syringe would be 'better' than being caught with a new needle and syringe, this could be another important area for further research.

It is not well understood how much impact legislation relating to peer-distribution limits PWIDs access to injecting equipment. While several participants discussed providing new injecting equipment to their friends and local communities, some were concerned about there being possible ramifications. This, combined with the illegality of using drugs such as heroin and amphetamines is likely to influence some people who might otherwise encourage more peer distribution within their social networks. More research on the impacts of legislation and policy preventing peer distribution is needed alongside pilot programs to look at models for encouraging appropriate peer distribution and peer education.

The participants had conversations revealing they were attempting to reduce harms to themselves without up-to-date and evidence-based information. For example, several different ways for cleaning injecting equipment were mentioned, and none of the participants were clear about which of these might be better than others. Research suggests cleaning of needles and syringes is discouraged by NSP workers for fear PWID will clean rather than use new injecting equipment. It seems people continue to clean and re-use their injecting equipment even when they are unsure about how to do it effectively. Therefore, better education about cleaning injecting equipment, best practice techniques, and other information of relevance to PWID should be a part of harm reduction messaging for all injecting drug users.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Final Remarks

There is no single, simple experience in which PWID find themselves passive victims of circumstance, reacting without thought. Instead, the people in this study who spoke about their experience of using a range of drugs make considered decisions to avoid harming themselves and others in the context of their drug use. These harm avoidance techniques are hierarchical, and adaptable to changing circumstance. They refer to a range of both short and long term harms, not just BBV risk, some of which take precedence over the risk of BBV transmission in some contexts. It is essential for policy makers and services to understand the most important potential harms to individual PWID as they see them before occasions of unsafe sharing of injecting equipment can effectively be addressed and BBV transmissions reduced.

As there is no one reason or explanation for the continued sharing of injecting equipment, neither is there one answer to address this. This report includes some of the recommendations made by the PWID who participated in the study, and some that were suggested by the findings. We recommend taking a comprehensive approach targeting a range of issues, all of which we believe contribute to the continued sharing and re-use of injecting equipment by PWID. Therefore, we recommend:

- Improved service delivery through NSP and pharmacy;
- Innovative service models that respond to the needs of local PWID including prison-based NSP;
- Free and low cost injecting equipment in unlimited amounts;
- Different types of injecting equipment for the use of different types of drugs available in a range of locations;
- Increased use of peer education and peer-based models;
- Training and advocacy for the health sector and law enforcement to reduce stigma and discrimination; and
- Better understanding of a range of factors that influence sharing related risk practices and protect PWID from harm; and
- Legislative change to address the impacts of criminalisation on PWID injecting related harms.

This study has looked at some of the harms associated with injecting drugs using the views of PWID themselves. The people who participated in this study had a strong understanding of the issues that faced them and their communities. They also made significant efforts to reduce harms and protect themselves and their friends from negative legal, health and social effects associated with injecting drug use. With matching commitment from policy makers, funders, service providers, and researchers to better understand the lives and concerns of PWID, and the resolve to work with PWID in decision making and services that affect them, BBV transmissions and other harms for PWID could be significantly reduced in Australia.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

References

ACEIJAS, C. & RHODES, T. 2007. Global estimates of prevalence of HCV infection among injecting drug users. Int J Drug Policy, 18, 352–8.

ACEIJAS, C., STIMSON, G. V., HICKMAN, M. & RHODES, T. 2004. Global overview of injecting drug use and HIV infection among injecting drug users. Aids, 18, 2295–303.

AITKEN, C., MOORE, D., HIGGS, P., KELSALL, J. & KERGER, M. 2002a. The impact of a police crackdown on a street drug scene: evidence from the street. International Journal of Drug Policy, 13, 193–202.

AITKEN, C. K., KERGER, M. & CROFTS, N. 2002b. Peer-delivered hepatitis C testing and counselling: a means of improving the health of injecting drug users. Drug & Alcohol Review, 21, 33–7.

ALAVI, M., GREBELY, J., MICALLEF, M., DUNLOP, A. J., BALCOMB, A. C., DAY, C. A., TRELOAR, C., BATH, N., HABER, P. S. & DORE, G. J. 2013. Assessment and treatment of hepatitis C virus infection among people who inject drugs in the opioid substitution setting: ETHOS study. Clin Infect Dis, 57 Suppl 2, S62–9.

AUSTRALIAN INJECTING AND ILLICIT DRUG USERS LEAGUE 2002. National Statement on Ethical Issues for Research Involving Injecting/Illicit Drug Users. Canberra: Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League

AUSTRALIAN INJECTING AND ILLICIT DRUG USERS LEAGUE 2003. Discussion Paper: Prison-Based Syringe Exchange Programs (PSE Program), Canberra

AUSTRALIAN INJECTING AND ILLICIT DRUG USERS LEAGUE (AIVL) 2009. 'In hot water': National cleaning injecting equipment project final report. Sydney: NSW Health.

AUSTRALIAN INJECTING AND ILLICIT DRUG USERS LEAGUE (AIVL) 2010. Legislative and policy barriers to needle and syringe programs and injecting equipment access for people who inject drugs. Canberra: Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL).

AUSTRALIAN INJECTING AND ILLICIT DRUG USERS LEAGUE (AIVL) 2014. AIVL National NSP Consultation Forum and Scoping Exercise. Rydges Hotel Sydney Airport, Dec 10–12th 2014.

BAILEY, S. L., OUELLET, L. J., MACKESY-AMITI, M. E., GOLUB, E. T., HAGAN, H., HUDSON, S. M., LATKA, M. H., GAO, W. & GARFEIN, R. S. 2007. Perceived risk, peer influences, and injection partner type predict receptive syringe sharing among young adult injection drug users in five U.S. cities. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 91, Supplement 1, S18–S29.

BARNARD, M. A. 1993. Needle sharing in context: patterns of sharing among men and women injectors and HIV risks. Addiction, 88, 805–812.

BENNETT, G. A., VELLEMAN, R. D., BARTER, G. & BRADBURY, C. 2000. Gender differences in sharing injecting equipment by drug users in England. AIDS Care, 12, 77–87.

BLUTHENTHAL, R. N., ANDERSON, R., FLYNN, N. M. & KRAL, A. H. 2007. Higher syringe coverage is associated with lower odds of HIV risk and does not increase unsafe syringe disposal among syringe exchange program clients. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 89, 214–222.

BOELEN, L., TEUTSCH, S., WILSON, D., DOLAN, K., DORE, G., LLOYD, A. & LUCIANI, F. 2014. Per-Event Probability of Hepatitis C Infection during Sharing of Injecting Equipment. PLoS ONE, 9, e100749.

BREEN, C., ROXBURGH, A. & DEGENHARDT, L. 2005. Gender differences among regular injecting drug users in Sydney, Australia, 1996–2003. Drug Alcohol Rev, 24, 353–8.

BRENER, L. & TRELOAR, C. 2008. Injecting practice between sexual partners: A summary of the literature Sydney: National Centre in HIV Social Research, UNSW.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

BROGAN, D. 2010. Incentive payments (reimbursements) for people who use drugs participating in research. AIVL Update: Research and Policy, Issue 6, Sept-Oct

BRYANT, J. 2013. A study of young people who inject drugs: an opportunity to decrease high risk injecting by improving knowledge about hepatitis C prevention. Vulnerable Children and Youth Studies, 9, 104–113.

BRYANT, J., BRENER, L., HULL, P. & TRELOAR, C. 2010a. Needle sharing in regular sexual relationships: An examination of serodiscordance, drug using practices, and the gendered character of injecting. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 107, 182–187.

BRYANT, J., PAQUETTE, D. & WILSON, H. 2012. Syringe coverage in an Australian setting: does a high level of syringe coverage moderate syringe sharing behaviour? AIDS Behav, 16, 1156–63.

BRYANT, J., TOPP, L., HOPWOOD, M., IVERSEN, J., TRELOAR, C. & MAHER, L. 2010b. Is point of access to needles and syringes related to needle sharing? Comparing data collected from pharmacies and needle and syringe programs in south-east Sydney. Drug Alcohol Rev, 29, 364-70.

BRYANT, J. & TRELOAR, C. 2007. The gendered context of initiation to injecting drug use: evidence for women as active initiates. Drug Alcohol Rev, 26, 287–93.

BURRIS, S., BLANKENSHIP, K. M., DONOGHOE, M., SHERMAN, S., VERNICK, J. S., CASE, P., LAZZARINI, Z. & KOESTER, S. 2004. Addressing the "Risk Environment" for Injection Drug Users: The Mysterious Case of the Missing Cop. Milbank Quarterly, 82, 125–156.

BURT, R. D., THIEDE, H. & HAGAN, H. 2009. Serosorting for hepatitis C status in the sharing of injection equipment among Seattle area injection drug users. Drug Alcohol Depend, 105, 215–20.

BUTLER, T., BOONWAAT, L., HAILSTONE, S., FALCONER, T., LEMS, P., GINLEY, T., READ, V., SMITH, N., LEVY, M., DORE, G. & KALDOR, J. 2007. The 2004 Australian prison entrants' blood-borne virus and risk behaviour survey. Aust N Z J Public Health, 31, 44–50.

BUTLER, T., LIM, D. & CALLANDER, D. 2011. National Prison Entrants' Bloodborne Virus and Risk Behaviour Survey Report 2004, 2007, and 2010. Sydney: Kirby Institute (University of New South Wales) and National Drug Research Institute (Curtin University).

CAO, W. & TRELOAR, C. 2006. Comparison of needle and syringe programme attendees and non-attendees from a high drug-using area in Sydney, New South Wales. Drug Alcohol Rev, 25, 439-44.

COOPER, H. L. F., BOSSAK, B., TEMPALSKI, B., DES JARLAIS, D. C. & FRIEDMAN, S. R. 2009. Geographic approaches to quantifying the risk environment: Drug-related law enforcement and access to syringe exchange programmes. International Journal of Drug Policy, 20, 217–226.

CORSON, S., GREENHALGH, D., TAYLOR, A., PALMATEER, N., GOLDBERG, D. & HUTCHINSON, S. 2013. Modelling the prevalence of HCV amongst people who inject drugs: An investigation into the risks associated with injecting paraphernalia sharing. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 133, 172–179.

COUPLAND, H., BALL, K., COSTELLO, M., HARVEY, B. & MAHER, L. 2005. "Something Is Going To Get Us" A Consultation and Development Project for a National Campaign Addressing Injecting Drug Use in Indigenous Communities. Sydney: Australian Federation of AIDS Organisations and the Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL).

COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA. 2014. Fourth National Hepatitis C Strategy 2014-2017. Canberra

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

CROFTS, N., LOUIE, R., ROSENTHAL, D. & JOLLEY, D. 1996. The first hit: circumstances surrounding initiation into injecting. Addiction, 91, 1187–96.

DE, P., COX, J., BOIVIN, J.-F., PLATT, R. W. & JOLLY, A. M. 2007. The importance of social networks in their association to drug equipment sharing among injection drug users: a review. Addiction, 102, 1730–1739.

DE, P., ROY, É., BOIVIN, J. F., COX, J. & MORISSETTE, C. 2008. Risk of hepatitis C virus transmission through drug preparation equipment: a systematic and methodological review. Journal of Viral Hepatitis, 15, 279–292.

DE WIT, J., MAO, L., ADAM, P. & TRELOAR, C. 2014. HIV/AIDS, hepatitis and sexually transmissible infections in Australia: Annual report of trends in behaviour 2014. Sydney: Centre for Social Research in Health, UNSW Australia.

DES JARLAIS, D. C. 2000. Structural interventions to reduce HIV transmission among injecting drug users. AIDS, 14, S41–S46.

DOERRBECKER, J., BEHRENDT, P., MATEU-GELABERT, P., CIESEK, S., RIEBESEHL, N., WILHELM, C., STEINMANN, J., PIETSCHMANN, T. & STEINMANN, E. 2013. Transmission of Hepatitis C Virus Among People Who Inject Drugs: Viral Stability and Association With Drug Preparation Equipment. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 207, 281–287.

DOVEY, K., FITZGERALD, J. & CHOI, Y. 2001. Safety becomes danger: dilemmas of drug-use in public space. Health Place, 7, 319–31.

DWYER, R., FRASER, S. & TRELOAR, C. 2011. Doing things together? Analysis of health education materials to inform hepatitis C prevention among couples. Addiction Research & Theory, 19, 352-361.

EDLIN, B. R. & CARDEN, M. R. 2006. Injection Drug Users: The Overlooked Core of the Hepatitis C Epidemic. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 42, 673–676.

FESTINGER, D; MARLOWE, D; DUGUSH, K; CRIFT, J AND ARABIA, P. 2008. Higher Magnitude cash payments improve research follow-up rates without increasing durg use or perceived coercion. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 96, 128–135

FRASER, S. 2004. 'It's Your Life!': Injecting Drug Users, Individual Responsibility and Hepatitis C Prevention. Health:, 8, 199–221.

FRASER, S. 2013. The missing mass of morality: A new fitpack design for hepatitis C prevention in sexual partnerships. International Journal of Drug Policy, 24, 212–219.

GARFEIN, R. S., GOLUB, E. T., GREENBERG, A. E., HAGAN, H., HANSON, D. L., HUDSON, S. M., KAPADIA, F., LATKA, M. H., OUELLET, L. J., PURCELL, D. W., STRATHDEE, S. A., THIEDE, H. & TEAM, F. T. D. S. 2007. A peer-education intervention to reduce injection risk behaviors for HIV and hepatitis C virus infection in young injection drug users. AIDS, 21, 1923–1932 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32823f9066.

GIBSON, D. R., BRAND, R., ANDERSON, K., KAHN, J. G., PERALES, D. & GUYDISH, J. 2002. Two-to sixfold decreased odds of HIV risk behavior associated with use of syringe exchange. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 31, 237-42.

GIDDING, H. F., LAW, M. G., AMIN, J., MACDONALD, G. A., SASADEUSZ, J. J., JONES, T. L., STRASSER, S. I., GEORGE, J. & DORE, G. J. 2011. Predictors of deferral of treatment for hepatitis C infection in Australian clinics. Medical Journal of Australia, 194, 398–402.

GILLIES, M., PALMATEER, N., HUTCHINSON, S., AHMED, S., TAYLOR, A. & GOLDBERG, D. 2010. The provision of non-needle/syringe drug injecting paraphernalia in the primary prevention of HCV among IDU: a systematic review. BMC Public Health, 10, 721.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

GOSSOP, M., GRIFFITHS, P., POWIS, B., WILLIAMSON, S., FOUNTAIN, J. & STRANG, J. 1997. Continuing drug risk behaviour: Shared use of injecting paraphernalia among London heroin injectors. AIDS Care, 9, 651–660.

GRAY, D., SAGGERS, S., ATKINSON, D., CARTER, M., LOXLEY, W. & HAYWARD, D. 2001. The Harm Reduction Needs of Aboriginal People Who Inject Drugs. Perth: National Drug Research Institute, Curtin University.

GREBELY, J., BRYANT, J., HULL, P., HOPWOOD, M., LAVIS, Y., DORE, G. J. & TRELOAR, C. 2011. Factors associated with specialist assessment and treatment for hepatitis C virus infection in New South Wales, Australia. Journal of Viral Hepatitis, 18, e104–16.

GRULICH, A. E., VISSER, R. O. D., SMITH, A. M. A., RISSEL, C. E. & RICHTERS, J. 2003. Sex in Australia: Injecting and sexual risk behaviour in a representative sample of adults. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 27, 242–250.

HABIB, S. E. 2003. Understanding the context of risk practices among injecting drug users: implications for hepatitis C prevention. Australian Journal of Social Issues, 38, 1–17.

HAGAN, H., POUGET, E. R. & DES JARLAIS, D. C. 2011. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Interventions to Prevent Hepatitis C Virus Infection in People Who Inject Drugs. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 204, 74-83.

HAGAN, H., THIEDE, H., WEISS, N. S., HOPKINS, S. G., DUCHIN, J. S. & ALEXANDER, E. R. 2001. Sharing of drug preparation equipment as a risk factor for hepatitis C. American Journal of Public Health, 91, 42-46.

HAHN, J. A., PAGE-SHAFER, K., LUM, P. J., BOURGOIS, P., STEIN, E., EVANS, J. L., BUSCH, M. P., TOBLER, L. H., PHELPS, B. & MOSS, A. R. 2002. Hepatitis C virus seroconversion among young injection drug users: relationships and risks. J Infect Dis, 186, 1558-64.

HARRIS, M., TRELOAR, C. & MAHER, L. 2012. Staying safe from hepatitis C: engaging with multiple priorities. Qual Health Res, 22, 31-42.

HARRIS, M and Rhodes, T.2012. Venous access and care: harnessing pragmatics in harm reduction for people who inject drugs. Addiction, 107(6), 1090-6

HAWKINS, W. E., LATKIN, C., MANDEL, W. & OZIEMKOWSKA, M. 1999. Do actions speak louder than words? Perceived peer influences on needle sharing and cleaning in a sample of injection drug users. AIDS Educ Prev, 11, 122–31.

HELLARD, M. E., HOCKING, J. S. & CROFTS, N. 2004. The prevalence and the risk behaviours associated with the transmission of hepatitis C virus in Australian correctional facilities. Epidemiology and Infection, 132, 409–415.

HOLLY, C. & SHOOBRIDGE, J. 2004. Responding to the Needs of Indigenous People Who Inject Drugs: findings from the research project Using Rapid Assessment Procedures to Investigate the Impact of Injecting Drug Use among Indigenous Australians in Metropolitan Adelaide. Adelaide: Aboriginal Drug and Alcohol Council (SA) Inc.

HOLTZMAN, D., BARRY, V., OUELLET, L. J., JARLAIS, D. C. D., VLAHOV, D., GOLUB, E. T., HUDSON, S. M. & GARFEIN, R. S. 2009. The influence of needle exchange programs on injection risk behaviors and infection with hepatitis C virus among young injection drug users in select cities in the United States, 1994–2004. Preventive Medicine, 49, 68-73.

HOPWOOD, M., LEA, T. & AGGLETON, P. 2015. Drug, sex and sociality: Factors associated with the recent sharing of injecting equipment among gay and bisexual men in Australia. Int J Drug Policy, 26, 210–3.

HORYNIAK, D., DIETZE, P., DEGENHARDT, L., HIGGS, P., MCILWRAITH, F., ALATI, R., BRUNO, R.,

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

LENTON, S. & BURNS, L. 2013. The relationship between age and risky injecting behaviours among a sample of Australian people who inject drugs. Drug Alcohol Depend, 132, 541-6.

IVERSEN, J. & MAHER, L. 2013. Australian Needle and Syringe Program National Data Report 2008–2012. Sydney: The Kirby Institute, University of New South Wales.

IVERSEN, J. & MAHER, L. 2014. Australian Needle and Syringe Program National Data Report 2009–2013. Sydney: The Kirby Institute, University of New South Wales.

IVERSEN, J., TOPP, L., WAND, H. & MAHER, L. 2012. Individual-level syringe coverage among Needle and Syringe Program attendees in Australia. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 122, 195-200.

IVERSEN, J., WAND, H., TOPP, L., KALDOR, J. & MAHER, L. 2013. Reduction in HCV incidence among injection drug users attending needle and syringe programs in Australia: a linkage study. Am J Public Health, 103, 1436-44.

KERR, T., TYNDALL, M., LI, K., MONTANER, J. & WOOD, E. Safer injection facility use and syringe sharing in injection drug users. The Lancet, 366, 316–318.

KOESTER, S. 2012. Commentary on Harris & Rhodes (2012): Discouraging syringe re-use by addressing drug injectors' everyday suffering. Addiction, 107, 1097–1098.

KOESTER, S., GLANZ, J. & BARON, A. 2005. Drug sharing among heroin networks: implications for HIV and hepatitis B and C prevention. AIDS Behav, 9, 27–39.

KRATZMANN, M., MITCHELL, E., WARE, J., BANACH, L., WARD, J., RYAN, J., SUTTON, L., GRIFFITHS, P. & M, S. 2011. Injecting drug use and associated harms among Aboriginal Australians. Canberra: Australian National Council on Drugs.

KWON, J. A., IVERSEN, J., MAHER, L., LAW, M. G. & WILSON, D. P. 2009. The Impact of Needle and Syringe Programs on HIV and HCV Transmissions in Injecting Drug Users in Australia: A Model-Based Analysis. JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, 51, 462–469 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181a2539a.

LAKON, C. M., ENNETT, S. T. & NORTON, E. C. 2006. Mechanisms through which drug, sex partner, and friendship network characteristics relate to risky needle use among high risk youth and young adults. Social Science & Medicine, 63, 2489–2499.

LARSON, A. N. N., SHANNON, C. & ELDRIDGE, C. 1999. Indigenous Australians who inject drugs: results from a Brisbane study. Drug and Alcohol Review, 18, 53-62.

LATKIN, C. A. & KNOWLTON, A. R. 2005. Micro-social structural approaches to HIV prevention: a social ecological perspective. AIDS Care, 17, 102–113.

LAVANCHY, D. 2011. Evolving epidemiology of hepatitis C virus. Clin Microbiol Infect, 17, 107-15.

LOMAS, J. 1998. Social capital and health: implications for public health and epidemiology. Soc Sci Med, 47, 1181–8.

LOXLEY, W. & OVENDEN, C. 1995. Friends and lovers: needle sharing in young people in Western Australia. AIDS Care - Psychological and Socio-Medical Aspects of AIDS/HIV, 7, 337-351.

MAHER, L., CHANT, K., JALALUDIN, B. I. N. & SARGENT, P. 2004. Risk behaviors and antibody hepatitis B and C prevalence among injecting drug users in south-western Sydney, Australia. Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 19, 1114–1120.

MAHER, L. & DIXON, D. 1999. Policing and public health: Law enforcement and harm minimization in a street-level drug market. British Journal of Criminology, 39, 488-512.

MAHER, L., JALALUDIN, B., CHANT, K. G., JAYASURIYA, R., SLADDEN, T., KALDOR, J. M. & SARGENT,

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

P. L. 2006. Incidence and risk factors for hepatitis C seroconversion in injecting drug users in Australia. Addiction, 101, 1499–1508.

MAHER, L., LI, J., JALALUDIN, B., CHANT, K. G. & KALDOR, J. M. 2007. High hepatitis C incidence in new injecting drug users: a policy failure? Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 31, 30–35.

MAHER, L. 2010. Payment and participation in research of people who use drugs illicitly. AIVL Update: Research and Policy, Issue 6, Sept-Oct

MARTIN, F. S. 2010. Becoming vulnerable: Young women's accounts of initiation to injecting drug use. Addiction Research & Theory, 18, 511–527.

MATEU-GELABERT, P., TRELOAR, C., CALATAYUD, V. A., SANDOVAL, M., ZURIÁN, J. C. V., MAHER, L., RHODES, T. & FRIEDMAN, S. R. 2007. How can hepatitis C be prevented in the long term? International Journal of Drug Policy, 18, 338–340.

MATHERS, B. M., DEGENHARDT, L., PHILLIPS, B., WIESSING, L., HICKMAN, M., STRATHDEE, S. A., WODAK, A., PANDA, S., TYNDALL, M., TOUFIK, A. & MATTICK, R. P. 2008. Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. Lancet, 372, 1733–45.

MATHERS, B., DEGENHARDT, L., ALI, H., WIESSING, L., HICKMAN, M., MATTICK, R., MYERS, B., AMBEKAR, A. & STRATHDEE, S. 2010. HIV prevention, treatment, and care services for people who inject drugs: a systematic review of global, regional, and national coverage. Lancet, 375, 1014–28

MCGOWAN, C., HARRIS, M. & RHODES, T. 2013. Hepatitis C Avoidance in Injection Drug Users: A Typology of Possible Protective Practices. PLoS ONE, 8, e77038.

MCKEGANEY, N., ABEL, M., TAYLOR, A., FRISCHER, M., GOLDBERG, D. & GREEN, S. 1995. The preparedness to share injecting equipment: an analysis using vignettes. Addiction, 90, 1253–1260.

MILLER, E. R., HELLARD, M. E., BOWDEN, S., BHARADWAJ, M. & AITKEN, C. K. 2009. Markers and risk factors for HCV, HBV and HIV in a network of injecting drug users in Melbourne, Australia. J Infect, 58, 375–82.

MILLER, M. & NEAIGUS, A. 2001. Networks, resources and risk among women who use drugs. Soc Sci Med, 52, 967-78.

NATHANI, J. A. I., IVERSEN, J., SHYING, K., BYRNE, J. & MAHER, L. 2010. Qualitative accounts of needle and syringe cleaning techniques among people who inject drugs in Sydney, Australia. Drug and Alcohol Review, 29, 413–419.

NATIONAL CENTRE IN HIV EPIDEMIOLOGY AND CLINICAL RESEARCH 2007. Australian NSP survey national data report 2002–2006. Sydney: UNSW.

NELSON, P. K., MATHERS, B. M., COWIE, B., HAGAN, H., DES JARLAIS, D., HORYNIAK, D. & DEGENHARDT, L. 2001. Global epidemiology of hepatitis B and hepatitis C in people who inject drugs: results of systematic reviews. The Lancet, 378, 571-583.

O'KEEFE, D., AITKEN, C., HIGGS, P. & DIETZE, P. 2013. Concordance between self-reported and actual hepatitis C virus infection status in a cohort of people who inject drugs. Drug Alcohol Rev, 32, 208-10.

PAQUETTE, D., MCEWAN, M. & BRYANT, J. 2013. Risk Practices Among Aboriginal People Who Inject Drugs in New South Wales, Australia. AIDS and Behavior, 17, 2467–2473.

POUGET, E. R., HAGAN, H. & DES JARLAIS, D. C. 2012. Meta-analysis of hepatitis C seroconversion in relation to shared syringes and drug preparation equipment. Addiction, 107, 1057-1065.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

RHODES, T. 2002. The 'risk environment': a framework for understanding and reducing drug-related harm. International Journal of Drug Policy, 13, 85-94.

RHODES, T. 2009. Risk environments and drug harms: a social science for harm reduction approach. Int J Drug Policy, 20, 193–201.

RHODES, T., DAVIS, M. & JUDD, A. 2004. Hepatitis C and its risk management among drug injectors in London: renewing harm reduction in the context of uncertainty. Addiction, 99, 621–633.

RHODES, T. & QUIRK, A. 1998. Drug users' sexual relationships and the social organisation of risk: The sexual relationship as a site of risk management. Social Science and Medicine, 46, 157-169.

RHODES, T., SINGER, M., BOURGOIS, P., FRIEDMAN, S. R. & STRATHDEE, S. A. 2005. The social structural production of HIV risk among injecting drug users. Social Science & Medicine, 61, 1026–1044.

ROBAEYS, G., GREBELY, J., MAUSS, S., BRUGGMANN, P., MOUSSALLI, J., DE GOTTARDI, A., SWAN, T., ARAIN, A., KAUTZ, A., STOVER, H., WEDEMEYER, H., SCHAEFER, M., TAYLOR, L., BACKMUND, M., DALGARD, O., PRINS, M. & DORE, G. J. 2013. Recommendations for the management of hepatitis C virus infection among people who inject drugs. Clin Infect Dis, 57 Suppl 2, S129–37.

ROSS, M. W., WODAK, A., STOWE, A. & GOLD, J. 1994a. Explanations for sharing injection equipment in injecting drug users and barriers to safer drug use. Addiction, 89, 473-479.

ROSS, M. W., WODAK, A., STOWE, A. & GOLD, J. 1994b. Explanations for sharing injection equipment in injecting drug users and barriers to safer drug use. Addiction, 89, 473–9.

ROY, É., HALEY, N., LECLERC, P., CÉDRAS, L. & BOIVIN, J.-F. 2002. Drug injection among street youth: the first time. Addiction, 97, 1003-1009.

SEEAR, K., GRAY, R., FRASER, S., TRELOAR, C., BRYANT, J. & BRENER, L. 2012. Rethinking safety and fidelity: The role of love and intimacy in hepatitis C transmission and prevention. Health Sociology Review, 21, 272–286.

SHERMAN, S. G., LATKIN, C. A. & GIELEN, A. C. 2001. Social factors related to syringe sharing among injecting partners: A focus on gender. Substance Use and Misuse, 36, 2113–2136.

SHOOBRIDGE, J., VINCENT, N., ALLSOP, S. & BIVEN, A. 2000. Using Rapid Assessment Methodology to Examine Injecting Drug Use in an Aboriginal Community. Adelaide: National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA) and Aboriginal Drug and Alcohol Council of South Australia Inc. (ADAC).

SMITH, B. D., JEWETT, A., BURT, R. D., ZIBBELL, J. E., YARTEL, A. K. & DINENNO, E. 2013. "To Share or Not to Share?" Serosorting by Hepatitis C Status in the Sharing of Drug Injection Equipment Among NHBS-IDU2 Participants. J Infect Dis, 208, 1934-42.

SMYTH, B. P. & ROCHE, A. 2007. Recipient syringe sharing and its relationship to social proximity, perception of risk and preparedness to share. Addictive Behaviors, 32, 1943–1948.

STAFFORD, J. & BURNS, L. 2014. Key findings from the 2014 Illicit Drug Reporting System (IDRS). National Drug Trends Conference.

STRATHDEE, S. A., PATRICK, D. M., ARCHIBALD, C. P., OFNER, M., CORNELISSE, P. G., REKART, M., SCHECHTER, M. T. & O'SHAUGHNESSY, M. V. 1997. Social determinants predict needle-sharing behaviour among injection drug users in Vancouver, Canada. Addiction, 92, 1339–47.

THE KIRBY INSTITUTE 2013. HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmissible infections in Australia Annual Surveillance Report Sydney: UNSW.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

THEIN, H.-H., DENOE, M., VAN BEEK, I., DORE, G. & MACDONALD, M. 2003. Injecting behaviour of injecting drug users at needle and syringe programmes and pharmacies in Australia. International Journal of Drug Policy, 14, 425–430.

THIEDE, H., HAGAN, H., CAMPBELL, J. V., STRATHDEE, S. A., BAILEY, S. L., HUDSON, S. M., KAPADIA, F. & GARFEIN, R. S. 2007. Prevalence and correlates of indirect sharing practices among young adult injection drug users in five U.S. cities. Drug & Alcohol Dependence, 91, S39–S47.

TRELOAR, C., HULL, P., DORE, G. J. & GREBELY, J. 2012. Knowledge and barriers associated with assessment and treatment for hepatitis C virus infection among people who inject drugs. Drug and Alcohol Review, 31, 918-24.

TURNER, K. M. E., HUTCHINSON, S., VICKERMAN, P., HOPE, V., CRAINE, N., PALMATEER, N., MAY, M., TAYLOR, A., DE ANGELIS, D., CAMERON, S., PARRY, J., LYONS, M., GOLDBERG, D., ALLEN, E. & HICKMAN, M. 2011. The impact of needle and syringe provision and opiate substitution therapy on the incidence of hepatitis C virus in injecting drug users: pooling of UK evidence. Addiction, 106, 1978–1988.

UNGER, J. B., KIPKE, M. D., DE ROSA, C. J., HYDE, J., RITT-OLSON, A. & MONTGOMERY, S. 2006. Needle-sharing among young IV drug users and their social network members: The influence of the injection partner's characteristics on HIV risk behavior. Addictive Behaviors, 31, 1607–1618.

VALENTE, T. W. & VLAHOV, D. 2001. Selective risk taking among needle exchange participants: implications for supplemental interventions. Am J Public Health, 91, 406-11.

WAGNER, K. D., LANKENAU, S. E., PALINKAS, L. A., RICHARDSON, J. L., CHOU, C.-P. & UNGER, J. B. 2011. The influence of the perceived consequences of refusing to share injection equipment among injection drug users: Balancing competing risks. Addictive Behaviors, 36, 835–842.

WHITE, B., DAY, C. & MAHER, L. 2007. Self reported risk behaviour among injecting drug users: self versus assisted questionnaire completion. AIDS Care, 19, 441–7.

WILSON, H. & BRYANT, J. 2010. Perception of Hepatitis C Risk among Injecting Drug Users Who Obtain Injecting Equipment from Pharmacies in Western Australia. Contemporary Drug Problems, 37, 599-618.

WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION 2009. Management of common health problems of drug users. India: WHO.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Appendix

The Australian Injecting & Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL)

Participant Information Statement And Consent Form

Sharing And/Or Re-Use Of Injecting Equipment Study

The aim of the Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League's (AIVL's) Sharing and/or Reuse of Injecting Equipment Study is to contribute to national efforts to reduce the transmission, morbidity, mortality and negative social and personal impacts of hepatitis C and other blood borne viruses (BBVs) and sexually transmissible infections (STIs) among people with a history of injecting drug use.

This study seeks to examine some of the key reasons for the sharing and re-use of injecting equipment among people who inject drugs (PWID) in Australia. It is hoped that the drug user community will benefit from this research as the results will be used to advocate for improved services for PWID.

If you decide to participate, we will ask you to attend a focus group session with 6-10 other participants, facilitated by members of AIVL's staff. The focus group will be in the form of a group discussion, will take 60 to 90 minutes and will be audio-recorded. The recordings will be destroyed once they have been transcribed. All data from the focus groups will be de-identified (so what you say will remain anonymous) prior to analysis and publication. All documentation will be securely kept at the AIVL premises, and we will make every effort to ensure your privacy and confidentiality. Reimbursement of \$40 will be made in recognition of your time and expertise.

If you give us your permission by signing this document, we plan to disseminate the findings through publication in scientific journals, conference and seminar presentations, on the AIVL website, and through AIVL and its state/territory member organisations. In any publication, information will be provided in such a way that you cannot be identified. Participants may contact the researchers to obtain copies of any published material arising from the project.

Your decision whether or not to participate is voluntary. Whether you decide to participate or not will in no way affect your future access to services, or your relationship with AIVL and its member organisations. If you decide to participate, you are free to withdraw your consent and to discontinue participation at any time.

If you have any questions, comments or complaints, please free to ask/tell us. If you have any additional questions after participating in the focus group session, Angella Duvnjak at AIVL (contact the AIVL office - 02 6279 1600 or mobile - 0407 391 078; email - angellad@aivl.org. au) will be happy to answer them.

This information page is yours to keep.

A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

By ticking the box below I confirm I have read and understood the information contained in both the 'Participant Information' and 'Participant Consent Acknowledgement' sections provided and in particular that:

- 1. I agree to participate in the study, and I am aware that I can withdraw from the study at any time. Further, I reserve the right not to provide any information that I do not wish to provide.
- 2. Whilst understanding that I may withdraw from this study at any time, I also understand that if I do decide to withdraw, I will not be able to remove the information that I may have provided earlier.
- 3. I understand the potential risks involved in participating in this study and I am also aware of the options should I experience any distress or discomfort related to participating in this study.
- 4. I understand that if I have additional questions related to this study I can contact a member of the research team.
- 5. I agree that de-identified research information collected from me can be included in future research related activities, including the publishing of findings in thesis papers, magazines and articles, presentation of results in relevant conferences and other public forums and may also be published in peer reviewed journals.

I acknowledge that I have read and understood the above information and that I freely give my consent to participate (Please tick box if you agree).

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION STATEMENT AND CONSENT FORM (continued)

provided above, you have decided to partic	pate.	ie informatio
Signature of Participant	Signature of Researcher	
(Please PRINT name)	(Please PRINT name)	
Date	Date	
Yes, I would like to receive a summary of th	ne results. Please email:	

'No one likes using the dirties' A study into the re-use of injecting equipment in Australia

Notes:





